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33 N. High St.
Columbus, Ohio 43215

614-228-1776

June 28, 2021

To Members of the Central Ohio Transit Authority Board of Trustees and the Citizens of Central 
Ohio:

We are pleased to present our Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (Annual Report) of the 
Central Ohio Transit Authority (COTA) for the year ended December 31, 20 20. This Annual 
Report includes financial statements and other financial and statistical data which conforms to 
generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (GAAP) and in 
conformance with standards of financial reporting as established by the Government Finance 
Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA).

COTA’s Finance Division is responsible for the accuracy of the data and the completeness and 
fairness of the presentation, including all disclosures. To the best of our knowledge and belief, the 
enclosed data is accurate in all material respects and is reported in a manner designed to fairly 
present the financial position and results of operations of COTA. COTA is responsible for 
establishing and maintaining an internal control structure designed to protect its assets from loss, 
theft or misuse. The internal control structure is designed to provide reasonable, rather than 
absolute, assurance that the financial statements are free of any material misstatements. The 
concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that the cost of a control should not exceed the 
benefits likely to be derived and that the valuation of costs and benefits requires estimates and 
judgments by management.

We believe the data presented is accurate in all material aspects and that all disclosures necessary 
to enable the reader to acquire the maximum understanding of the Authority’s financial activity 
have been included.

Clark Schaefer Hackett has issued an unmodified (“clean”) opinion on COTA’s financial 
statements for the year ended December 31, 2020. The independent auditor concluded, based 
upon the audit, that there was a reasonable basis for rendering an unmodified opinion that the 
Authority’s financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020, are fairly presented in 
conformity with GAAP. The Independent Auditor’s Report is presented as the first component of 
the financial section of this report.

COTA participates in the federal single audit program, which consists of a single audit of all 
federally-funded programs administered by COTA. As a requirement for continued funding 
eligibility, participation in the single audit program is mandatory for most local governments, 
including COTA. The single audit, performed by Clark Schaefer Hackett met the requirements set 
forth by the State of Ohio, and the audit requirements of Title 2 “U.S. Code of Federal Regulations 
Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for 
Federal Awards” (Uniform Guidance).
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GAAP requires that management provide a narrative introduction, overview and analysis to 
accompany the basic financial statements in the form of Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
(MD&A). This Letter of Transmittal is designed to complement the MD&A and should be read in 
conjunction with it. COTA’s MD&A can be found immediately following the Independent 
Auditor’s Report.

REPORTING ENTITY

General

COTA is an independent political subdivision of the State of Ohio with its own taxing power. It 
was established by an agreement executed on February 17, 1971 with Franklin County and the 
cities of Bexley, Columbus, Gahanna, Grandview Heights, Grove City, Hilliard, Reynoldsburg, 
Upper Arlington, Westerville, Whitehall and Worthington. In 2008, an amended agreement 
added the city of Dublin to COTA.

COTA is not dependent upon appropriations from any political subdivision for local funding. It is 
empowered by Ohio Revised Code to issue general obligation debt secured by its own taxing 
power.

Governance

COTA is governed by a Board of Trustees vested by Ohio law with the powers necessary to manage 
COTA. The legislation and agreements establish that COTA provides for a 13-member board 
serving overlapping three-year terms. Board membership is apportioned as follows: City of 
Columbus, seven members; Franklin County, two members; and four members prorated a mong 
the eleven municipal corporations including Bexley, Dublin, Gahanna, Grandview Heights, Grove 
City, Hilliard, Reynoldsburg, Upper Arlington, Westerville, Whitehall and Worthington. The 
appointments of the members within the group rotate among the muni cipal corporations. 
Members are appointed by the Mayor of the appropriate municipal corporation with the consent 
of its City Council. The Franklin County Board of Commissioners appoints the Franklin County 
representatives.

Administration

The President/CEO, who is appointed by the Board, directs the administration of COTA, subject 
to the policies and supervision of the Board. The President/CEO selects the senior leadership 
team. A Table of Organization depicting the key functional responsibilities is shown on page 9 of 
the introductory section.

Serving the Community

Living Our Commitment was the theme of COTA’s 2020 Annual Report. We entered the year with 
an ambitious and transformational agenda based on data from comprehensive customer research 
and while we had to regain our balance a few times, we were never kicked off course. We were one 
of the first to respond to COVID-19 by instituting new sanitization technology, health protocols 
and community support to allow our services to safely continue. All year, COTA operators and 
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maintenance technicians showed up to work each day to ensure the continuation of essential 
COTA services. As a result of that commitment, Central Ohio never went a single day 
without reliable mobility services.

The pandemic allowed Team COTA to reimagine mobility solutions. While fixed-route transit 
remained central to our service within the 562 square miles of Franklin County as well as in 
portions of Delaware, Fairfield, Licking and Union counties, service was delivered differently 
based on the unique needs and characteristics of individual neighborhoods. In addition to the 
nearly 10,322,500 passengers served on our fixed-route system, COTA Mainstream and 
Mainstream on-demand provided over 238,700 rides to individuals whose disabilities prevent
them from accessing the fixed-route bus system.

In order to adapt to a changing world, COTA accelerated our rollout of more flexible, targeted 
mobility options to reach those without access. In its second year, COTA//Plus, the innovative 
microtransit service through which customers can request on-demand rides via our mobile app, 
was expanded in Grove City and introduced in Westerville, providing service to the entire city, 
Otterbein University, the Polaris area, and the Uptown District. COTA//Plus South Columbus was 
launched in November, covering 16 neighborhoods and connecting customers to Nationwide 
Children’s Hospital, the Reeb Avenue Center and Scioto Audubon Metro Park. 

On-demand service expanded in new ways during 2020 as well. In September, customers could 
use the COTA//Plus app to request a ride via Bus On-Demand, allowing customers impacted by 
service changes due to COVID-19 to still utilize COTA. This new on-demand platform created 
virtual transit stops, allowing easier access to service and quicker connections to fixed-route lines.
In 2020, COTA//Plus provided more than 17,700 rides.

We are proud of our ability to pivot in transformative ways in order to serve our community during 
a time in which they needed us most.

Innovation 

As COVID took its toll on the health and the livelihood of the community, COTA brought an 
intentional focus to social mobility. Once the pandemic began, COTA began collecting and 
distributing masks so that our customers could ride safely. In total, more than 25,000 masks were 
handed out to riders and nonprofit organizations.

In the spring, COTA launched a partnership with Bob Evans to distribute meals to 15 different 
food pantries, food banks and other nonprofits.

In late summer, COTA transformed its COSI on Wheels partnership to make it a safe curbside 
experience. COTA and COSI collaborated to provide an amplified Wi-Fi-enabled transit vehicle to 
create a large free hotspot location – bringing science learning opportunities to Columbus City 
School locations, parks, libraries, and other community locations in underserved neighborhoods.

In December, COTA announced the implementation of a traffic management and predictive 
analytics artificial intelligence system. The first-of-its-kind project will improve traffic safety and 
reduce travel time for residents across 13 Central Ohio counties through a cloud -based connected 
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mobility platform owned and operated by Waycare Technologies. The project is made possible by 
a $1.7 million Mobility Innovation Demonstration Research Grant awarded by the US Department 
of Transportation to COTA and 13 additional partners. The system will be the largest of its kind 
in the country and the first involving public transit agencies.

ECONOMIC OUTLOOK

Columbus remains the most populous city in Ohio. And with the region expected to grow to nearly 
2.4 million people by 2050, Columbus is poised to continue having a strong local economy. In 
light of COTA’s reliance on sales tax revenue, the economy of the Central Ohio region is critical to 
funding the mobility services provided to the community. The region’s economy consists largely 
of professional and service sectors with a focus on education, healthcare, finance, insurance and 
banking.

According to the State of Ohio, there continues to be a shift in consumption from services (which 
are mostly excluded from sales tax) to taxable goods. Sales tax receipts through May reflect a 0.7% 
increase over 2020 collections, and as a result of that continued shift, COTA remains optimistic 
in the economic resiliency in Central Ohio.

The financial stewardship demonstrated by the Board of Trustees and of COTA leadership past 
and present has resulted in the Authority’s strong financial position. That financial position 
allowed for the provision of services to the community at no cost for nearly one year during the 
pandemic and provided for no reduction in work force with our front-line employees. With 
additional assistance from the Federal Government, in both 2020 and 2021, COTA remains 
financially strong.

The Board of Trustees and the Leadership Team of COTA continue to closely monitor the regional 
and local economy for impacts on COTA’s financial position.

FISCAL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

Internal Control Structure

The management of COTA is responsible for establishing and maintaining an adequate internal 
control structure. Internal accounting controls are designed to ensure that COTA’s assets are 
protected from loss, theft or misuse and that adequate accounting data are compiled to allow for 
the preparation of the financial statements in conformity with GAAP. The internal control 
structure is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that these objectives are 
met. The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that: (1) the cost of the control should not 
exceed the benefits likely to be derived; and (2) the valuation of costs and benefits requires
estimates and judgment by management.

We believe COTA’s internal control structure adequately safeguards assets and provides 
reasonable assurance of proper recording of financial transactions. Because of inherent 
limitations in any internal control structure, errors or irregularities nevertheless may occur and 
not be detected. Also, the projection of any evaluation of the system to future periods is subject to 
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the risk that procedures may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or the degree 
of compliance with the procedures may deteriorate.

Basis of Accounting 

COTA’s financial records are maintained on the accrual basis of accounting. The activities are 
accounted for in a single enterprise, proprietary-type, fund. Additional information on COTA’s 
accounting policies can be found in Note 2 in the Notes to the Financial Statements starting on 
page 27.

Budgetary Controls

In addition to internal accounting controls, COTA maintains budgetary controls. The objective of 
these budgetary controls is to ensure compliance with legal provisions embodied in the annual 
appropriation resolution approved by the Board of Trustees. This resolution is approved by the 
Board of Trustees in a public meeting, typically held in the month preceding a new fiscal year .
Amendments to the annual appropriations, if needed, are approved by the Board of Trustees in a 
public meeting(s) throughout the fiscal year. The annual budget is prepared to support projects 
and initiatives identified as part of the Authority’s strategic plan. 

Management control for the budget is maintained by not permitting total expenditures to exceed 
total appropriations without the approval of the Board of Trustees. It is the responsibility of each 
Division to administer its operations in a manner to ensure that the use of funds is consistent with 
the goals and programs authorized by the Board of Trustees. Financial statements prepared on a 
budgetary basis, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, have been provided 
on page 54 to demonstrate budgetary compliance.

OTHER INFORMATION

Use of This Report

This report is published to provide to the Board of Trustees, as well as to Central Ohio residents
and other interested persons, detailed information concerning the financial condition of 
COTA. We believe the information, as presented, is accurate in all material respects; that it is 
presented in a manner designed to fairly set forth the financial activity of the Authority; and 
that all disclosures necessary to enable the reader to gain the maximum understanding of the
COTA’s financial activity have been included. Copies of this report will be available on COTA’s 
website at www.cota.com.

2020 Awards and Recognition

While 2020 will be remembered as a year of challenges, COTA’s focus on solution -oriented 
thinking resulted in several accolades that speak to our team’s innovative approach to 
mobility, as well as our central focus on equity, diversity, and inclusion (EDI). 

For the second time in three years, the American Public Transit Association (APTA) 
recognized COTA as the best transit organization of its size in North America. To APTA, COTA 
stood out among transportation organizations for several reasons including the development 
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of on-demand services such as COTA//Plus and Mainstream On-Demand, adoption of a five-
year strategic plan with a core focus on equity, diversity and inclusion, the continued 
conversation about low and no-emission transit vehicles and our commitment to corridor 
development in the region to improve mobility and foster equitable economic development.

In a year where employee health and wellness were a constant focus, we were proud to be 
recognized by the Healthy Business Council of Ohio for our demonstrated commitment to our 
employees’ health by providing comprehensive worksite health promotion and wellness 
programs. Additionally, efforts undertaken by COTA to keep operators and passengers safe 
while on our vehicles earned COTA that APTA Health and Safety Certification. 

Our commitment to EDI was acknowledged by Parity.org, which recognized COTA on its list 
of 35 nationally recognized brands of the Best Companies for Women to Advance. Sixty-four 
percent of COTA’s executive leadership are women and in a two-year period, the number of 
women in director-level or higher positions increased by 14%. In addition, Columbus Business 
First awarded COTA the Diversity in Business Award.

The GFOA awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to COTA 
for its Annual Report for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019. The Certificate of 
Achievement is the highest form of recognition for excellence in financial reporting. This was 
the 31st consecutive year that COTA has achieved this prestigious award. In order to be awarded
a Certificate of Achievement, a government must publish an easily readable and efficiently 
organized Annual Report. This report must satisfy both GAAP and applicable legal
requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe that our current 
ANNUAL REPORT continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program's requirements 
and we are submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certificate.

While we are proud of our external accolades, we also recognize our employees have learned 
a commitment to excellence starts from within our organization; driven by the needs and 
aspirations of our team members. COTA was proud to support three Employee Resource 
Groups in 2020 – The Veterans Employee Resource Group (VERG), Parents Activity 
Collaborating Together (PACT), and Black Employees Leading Inclusion, Excellence, Vision 
and Education (BELIEVE). Together, all three of these groups collaborated to collect more 
than 500 toys for Nationwide Children’s Hospital during the holidays as an act of giving back.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

Board of Trustees 
Central Ohio Transit Authority
33 North High Street
Columbus, Ohio 43215

Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Central Ohio Transit Authority (the 
Authority), as of and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the related notes to the 
financial statements, which collectively comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements as listed in the 
table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Central Ohio Transit Authority as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the 
changes in its financial position and its cash flows thereof for the years then ended in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
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Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis, the schedules of net pension liabilities and pension contributions and the 
schedules of net OPEB liabilities and OPEB contributions, as listed in the table of contents, be presented 
to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial 
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an 
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information 
and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic 
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. 
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited 
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements. The introductory section, supplemental 
budget versus actual schedule, and the statistical section are presented for purposes of additional 
analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. 

The supplemental budget versus actual schedule is the responsibility of management and was derived 
from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic 
financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit 
of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling 
such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic 
financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, 
the supplemental budget versus actual schedule is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the
basic financial statements as a whole.

The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 
audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on them.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated June 28, 2021
on our consideration of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an 
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the 
Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

  Clark, Schaefer, Hackett & Co.
Springfield, Ohio
June 28, 2021
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

As the management of the Central Ohio Transit Authority (the Authority or COTA), we offer readers of the 
Authority’s basic financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the 
Authority for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. This discussion and analysis is designed to 
assist the reader in focusing on significant financial issues and activities and identifying any significant 
changes in financial position. We encourage readers to consider the information presented here, in 
conjunction with the basic financial statements and notes to the financial statements, which follows this 
section and provides more specific detail 

Overview of Financial Highlights

 The Authority has net position of $335.6 million. Of this amount, $264.1 million is invested in capital
assets, net of accumulated depreciation.

 The Authority’s net position increased by $17.0 million in 2020 mainly due to increases in cash and
cash equivalents and receivables as a result of federal operating assistance received due to COVID-
19 of $50.0 million, offset by an increase in the Authority’s proportionate share of the net pension and
OPEB liabilities, which is reflected in the liabilities and deferred inflows of resources on the
Condensed Summary of Net Position.

 Current assets of $257.0 million consist of cash and cash equivalents of $163.1 million, receivables of
$61.0 million (sales tax receivables of $36.9 million, federal capital grant receivable of $22.3 million,
other receivables of $1.6 million), inventory of $4.5 million, Board designated assets of $26.6 million
and other assets of $1.7 million.

 Current liabilities of $21.8 million primarily consist of accrued payroll and fringe benefits of $10.6
million, and accounts payable of $7.4 million.

 The Authority’s long-term liabilities of $176.3 million primarily consists of the net pension liability and
net OPEB liability of $102.2 million and $72.0 million, respectively.

Basic Financial Statements and Presentation

The financial statements presented by the Authority are the Statements of Net Position, the Statements of 
Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position and the Statements of Cash Flows. These statements are 
presented using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. The 
Authority is structured as a single enterprise fund with revenues recognized when earned and measurable, 
not when received. Expenses are recognized when they are incurred, not when paid. Capital assets are 
capitalized and depreciated, except land and construction in progress, over their estimated useful lives.

The Statements of Net Position on page 24 presents information on all of the Authority’s assets, deferred 
outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources with the difference between these reported 
as net position. Over time, increases and decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether 
the financial position of the Authority is improving or deteriorating. 

The Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position, on page 25, present information 
showing how the Authority’s net position changed during the year. These statements summarize operating 
revenues and expenses along with non-operating revenues and expenses. In addition, these statements list 
capital grant revenues received from federal and state/local governments.

The Statements of Cash Flows on page 26 allow financial statement users to assess the Authority’s adequacy 
or ability to generate sufficient cash flows to meet its obligations in a timely manner. These statements are
classified into four categories: 1) cash flows from operating activities, 2) cash flows from non-capital financing 
activities, 3) cash flows from capital and related financing activities, and 4) cash flows from investing activities.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements

The notes to the financial statements provide additional information that is essential to full understanding of 
the data provided in the financial statements. The notes to the financial statements are on pages 27-49.

Financial Analysis of the Authority

Condensed Summary of Net Position

The Authority’s comparative analysis of the condensed summary of Net Position is as follows:

(Restated) (Restated)

Description 2020 2019 2018

Assets

  Current Assets 230,329,189$   207,186,510$   221,624,227$   

  Board Designated Assets (current) 26,646,274      29,200,186      6,570,941        

     Total Current Assets 256,975,463    236,386,696    228,195,168    

  Non-Current Other Assets 54,777            53,555            15,612,684      

  Capital Assets (net of accumulated depreciation) 264,073,768    235,687,233    223,016,793    

     Total Non-Current Assets 264,128,545    235,740,788    238,629,477    

Total Assets 521,104,008    472,127,484    466,824,645    

Deferred Outflows of Resources 49,065,292      42,413,340      30,712,373      

Liabilities

  Current Liabilities 21,770,942      18,854,088      17,011,413      

  Non-Current Other Liabilities 2,081,090        2,489,429        3,032,565        

  Net Pension Liability 102,189,495    110,351,252    71,271,333      

  Net OPEB Liability 72,044,732      53,405,611      50,100,594      

  Total Liabilities 198,086,259    185,100,380    141,415,905    

Deferred Inflows of Resources 36,433,669      10,774,320      20,437,708      

Net Position

  Net Position Invesment in Capital Assets 264,073,768    235,687,233    223,016,793    

  Net Position Unrestricted 71,575,604      82,978,891      112,666,612    

     Total Net Position 335,649,372$   318,666,124$   335,683,405$   

The net pension liability (NPL) is reported pursuant to GASB 68, “Accounting and Financial Reporting for 
Pensions – an Amendment of GASB Statement 27” and the Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) are 
reported in accordance with GASB Statement 75, “Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment 
Benefits Other Than Pensions”. These two standards significantly revised accounting for costs and liabilities 
related to pension and OPEB plans. For reasons discussed below, many end users of this financial statement 
will gain a clearer understanding of the Authority’s actual financial condition by adding deferred inflows related 
to pension and OPEB, the net pension liability and the net OPEB liability to the reported net position and 
subtracting deferred outflows related to pension and OPEB.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

Governmental Accounting Standards Board standards are national and apply to all government financial 
reports prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Prior accounting for pensions 
(GASB 27) and postemployment benefits (GASB 45) focused on a funding approach. This approach limited 
pension and OPEB costs to contributions annually required by law, which may or may not be sufficient to fully 
fund each plan’s net pension liability or OPEB liability. Both GASB 68 and GASB 75 take an earnings 
approach to pension and OPEB accounting; however, the nature of Ohio’s statewide pension/OPEB plans 
and state law governing those systems requires additional explanation in order to properly understand the 
information presented in these statements.

GASB 68 and GASB 75 required the net pension liability and the net OPEB liability to equal the Authority’s 
proportionate share of each plan’s collective: 

1. Present value of estimated future pension/OPEB benefits attributable to active and inactive 
employees’ past service 

2. Minus plan assets available to pay these benefits

GASB notes that pension and OPEB obligations, whether funded or unfunded, are part of the “employment 
exchange” – that is, the employee is trading his or her labor in exchange for wages, benefits, and the promise 
of a future pension and other postemployment benefits. GASB noted that the unfunded portion of this promise 
is a present obligation of the government, part of a bargained-for benefit to the employee and should 
accordingly be reported by the government as a liability since they received the benefit of the exchange. 
However, the Authority is not responsible for certain key factors affecting the balance of these liabilities. In 
Ohio, the employee shares the obligation of funding pension benefits with the employer. Both employer and 
employee contribution rates are capped by State statute. A change in these caps requires action of both 
Houses of the General Assembly and approval of the Governor. Benefit provisions are also determined by 
State statute. The Ohio Revised Code permits, but does not require, the retirement systems to provide 
healthcare to eligible benefit recipients. The retirement systems may allocate a portion of the employer 
contributions to provide for these OPEB benefits.

The employee enters the employment exchange with the knowledge that the employer’s promise is limited not 
by contract but by law. The employer enters the exchange also knowing that there is a specific, legal limit to 
its contribution to the retirement systems. In Ohio, there is no legal means to enforce the unfunded liability of 
the pension/OPEB plan as against the public employer. State law operates to mitigate/lessen the moral 
obligation of the public employer to the employee, because all parties enter the employment exchange with 
notice as to the law. The pension system is responsible for the administration of the plan. 

Most long-term liabilities have set repayment schedules or, in the case of compensated absences (i.e. sick 
and vacation leave), are satisfied through paid time-off or termination payments. There is no repayment 
schedule for the net pension liability or the net OPEB liability. As explained above, changes in benefits, 
contribution rates, and return on investments affect the balance of these liabilities but are outside the control 
of the local government. In the event the contributions, investment returns, and other changes are insufficient 
to keep up with required payments, State statute does not assign/identify the responsible party for the 
unfunded portion. Due to the unique nature of how the net pension liability and the net OPEB liability are 
satisfied, these liabilities are separately identified within the long-term liability section of the statement of net 
position.

In accordance with GASB 68 and GASB 75, the Authority’s statements include an annual pension expense 
and an annual OPEB expense for their proportionate share of each plan’s change in net pension liability and 
net OPEB liability, respectively, not accounted for as deferred inflows/outflows.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

Most of the Authority’s Net Position reflects investment in capital assets such as buses, maintenance 
equipment, and operating facilities. The Authority uses these capital assets to provide public transportation 
services for Franklin County and portions of the cities of Columbus, Dublin, Reynoldsburg, and Westerville 
that are located in counties adjacent to Franklin County. The Authority’s investment in capital assets as of 
December 31, 2020 amounts to $264.1 million. The increase in COTA’s investment in capital assets in 2020
was $28.4 million.

Major capital asset events during 2020 included the following:
 Purchase of 28 Heavy Duty CNG Transit Bus and 8 Paratransit Vehicles
 Installation of Vapor vShield Driver Barrier Systems
 Sale of 25 Heavy Duty CNG Transit Bus and 3 Paratransit Vehicles

Contributions to construction in progress including the following projects:
 Fields Avenue Renovation
 Development of Information Technology Systems and Infrastructure

Additional information on the Authority’s capital assets can be found in Note 6, page 34 in the Notes to the 
Financial Statements.

The Authority’s current assets at the end of 2020 are composed of cash and cash equivalents (73.9%), 
receivables (23.7%), inventory (1.8%), and other assets (0.6%) consisting predominately of prepaid 
expenses.

In 2020, the Authority’s total liabilities, other than net pension and net OPEB liabilities, increased $2.5 million 
due to timing of accruals. The decrease in net pension liability of $8.2 million and the increase in the net 
OPEB liability of $18.6 million were due to the Authority reporting its proportionate share of the State-wide 
pension system for the year using 2019 as the measurement year.

Expenses by Functional Category

The Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position are presented on the next page with 
explanations and analysis. The Authority’s operating expenses, excluding leases and rentals and
depreciation, can be classified by functional category as defined by the Authority’s National Transit Database 
Report (NTDR) and are summarized in the following table:

Description 2020 2019 2018

Vehicle Operations 98,805,823$    92,751,877$    85,742,386$    

Vehicle Maintenance 30,102,497      32,050,147      27,635,618      

Facilities Maintenance 11,834,651      8,760,703        8,085,662        

General and Administrative 41,733,861      36,490,242      33,218,305      

182,476,832$   170,052,969$   154,681,971$   
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
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Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

Condensed Summary of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position:

Description 2020 2019 2018

Operating Revenues

  Passenger Fare Revenues 4,166,012$      18,208,917$    18,576,996$    

  Special Services Revenue 200,487           822,880           845,027           

Total Operating Revenues 4,366,499        19,031,797      19,422,023      

Non-Operating Revenues

  Sales Tax Revenues 133,699,649    135,701,616    131,382,944    

  Federal Operating Assistance 50,601,514      436,008           395,402           

  State Operating Assistance 1,783,392        748,250           1,867,863        

  Local Operating Assistance 255,975           - -

  Investment Income 1,188,206        3,976,278        3,311,564        

  Non-transportation and Other Revenues 1,792,205        1,557,032        1,221,237        

Total Non-Operating Revenues 189,320,941    142,419,184    138,179,010    

Total Revenue before Capital Grants 193,687,440    161,450,981    157,601,033    

Operating Expenses

  Labor 63,664,363      64,771,226      59,789,565      

  Fringe Benefits 69,144,543      56,782,782      52,982,981      

  Materials and Supplies and Fuel 14,489,287      18,607,643      16,846,649      

  Purchased Transportation 10,630,800      8,778,525        7,869,240        

  Services 18,811,102      14,505,867      10,903,982      

  Other Expenses 5,942,973        6,780,261        6,445,123        

  Depreciation Expense 30,556,473      29,499,960      29,450,716      

Total Operating Expenses 213,239,541    199,726,264    184,288,256    

Non-Operating Expenses

  Loss on Disposal of Capital Assets 1,010,270        74,904 374,350           

  Regional Transit Subsidy 2,242,304        3,585,334        953,233           

  Non-Operating Project Expense 460,625           289,012           667,688           

Total Non-Operating Expense 3,713,199        3,949,250        1,995,271        

Change before Capital Grants (23,265,300)     (42,224,533)     (28,682,494)     

Capital Grant Revenues

  Federal 38,079,805      25,015,028      3,319,148        

  State 1,614,766        - -

  Local 553,977           192,224           127,839           

Total Capital Grant Revenues 40,248,548      25,207,252      3,446,987        

Change in Net Position during the Year 16,983,248$    (17,017,281)$   (25,235,507)$   

Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Central Ohio Transit Authority’s financial
status and performance. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for
additional information should be addressed to:

Office of Chief Financial Officer
Central Ohio Transit Authority

William J. Lhota Building
33 N. High Street

Columbus, OH 43215
www.cota.com
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Revenues by Source
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Operating Expense by Object Class
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Revenues

For purposes of this presentation, the Authority groups its operating revenues into the following categories:

Passenger Fares are comprised of farebox revenues and special services revenues. When compared to 
2019, the 2020 farebox revenue is down 77.1% as a result of the suspension of ridership fares in response to 
the COIVD-19 pandemic. Fare revenue in 2019 was down 2.0% when compared to 2018 driven by a 
decrease in sales of monthly passes.

Sales Tax Revenues are received from a permanent .25% sales tax levy approved by voters in November 
1999 and a temporary .25% sales tax levy approved by voters in November 2016 applicable to the Authority’s 
service area for a ten-year period. In 2020, 2019, and 2018, the Authority saw a -1.5%, 3.3%, and 1.7%
change in sales tax revenue, respectively. 

Federal Assistance is received from the Federal Transit Administration (FTA). In 2020, 2019, and 2018, 
COTA received operating assistance through §5310 to offset the cost of mobility services. Additionally, in 
2020, COTA received operating assistance of $49.9 million through §5307, Urbanized Area Formula Grant 
from the CARES Act to assist with the impact of the COIVD Pandemic. 

Federal Capital Grants are received from the Federal Transit Administration (FTA). Eligible expenditures fall 
into two general categories: capital expenditures and other expenditures which are limited to specific 
programs. The Authority’s funding, as authorized in the Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st Century, 
(MAP-21), comes primarily from §5307 which is the Urbanized Area Formula Program. The Authority utilizes 
these funds primarily for capital programs, transit improvements and enhancements. In 2020, 2019, and 
2018, the Authority’s §5307 funding allocation increased 52.2%, 4.0%, and 4.0%, respectively.

State and Local Assistance is the combination of two (2) revenue sources. 1.) The reimbursement of Ohio 
State fuel taxes. COTA is required to remit state taxes on diesel fuel but is refunded $0.46 of the $0.47 per 
gallon paid. 2.) In 2020, Local Assistance included subsidized payments from various cities to offer on-
demand micro-transit services.

Investment Income is earned on invested funds. In 2020, 2019, and 2018, the Authority recognized -70.1%,
20.1%, and 107.8% change, respectively in investment income. These changes are directly impacted by 
decreasing interest rates due to current market conditions.

Non-Transportation and Other Revenue consists of auxiliary transportation and non-transportation 
revenue. Non-transportation revenue includes miscellaneous income items such as rental income. In 2020, 
2019, and 2018 respectively, the Authority recognized a 15.1%, 27.5%, and 24.7% change in Non-
Transportation and Other Revenue.

State and Local Capital Grants in 2020, the increase was due to the contribution for capital from a public-
public partnership between the City of Columbus and COTA related to the CNG Satellite station. This funding 
made up 0.93% of COTA’s 2020 total revenue.
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Expenses

Labor includes hourly wages paid to union represented employees (bus operators, mechanics and facility 
maintenance personnel), and salaries and wages paid to administrative staff (clerical, supervisory and 
management personnel). In 2020 and 2019, the Authority recognized a -1.7% and 8.3% change, respectively, 
in labor expense. For both years, there were scheduled pay increases related to the Authority’s collective 
bargaining units and those provided to non-union staff. Additionally, in an effort to support expanded service 
to the community, in 2019, COTA made a number of staff changes contributing to the increase it labor costs.
In 2020, the labor costs saw a slight decrease due to administrative staffing changes resulting from the 
COVID Pandemic and reduction in routes.

Fringe Benefits consist primarily of vacation, sick and holiday pay, pension and OPEB expenses and 
employee medical benefits. Required employer contributions to OPERS were made at the rate of 14% of total 
gross taxable wages. The 2020, 2019, and 2018 fringe benefits increased by 21.8%, 7.2%, and 10.6%, 
respectively. The increases are not proportionate to the increase in labor expense due to pension and OPEB 
expense adjustments required by GASB Statements No. 68 and 75. 

Materials and Supplies include the Authority’s diesel fuel expense and parts used to maintain buses and 
facilities. In 2020, 2019, and 2018, the Authority recognized a -37.6%, 6.2%, and 39.5% change, respectively, 
in fuel expenses incurred. The decrease in 2020 was due to the reduction in routes resulting from the loss of 
ridership as a result of the COVID Pandemic. During the year, fuel prices were extremely low as a result of 
the lower demand and travel restrictions caused lower than normal demands on the usage. The increase in 
2019 was due to increases in the commodity pricing, offset by the lower cost of natural gas. In 2018, the 
commodity pricing and the cost of natural gas both saw increases. In 2020, 2019, and 2018, the Authority 
recognized a -15.5%, 12.4%, and 11.4% change, respectively, in materials and supplies (excluding fuel). The 
majority of the material and supply costs for the Authority are related to parts for the repair and maintenance 
of revenue buses and materials used to maintain Authority owned facilities. The decrease in 2020 in material 
and supply costs, exclusive of fuel, was directly related to the reduction of routes as a result of the COVID 
Pandemic. Increases in material and supply costs, exclusive of fuel, in prior years were directly related to 
service expansions year over year.

Purchased Transportation expenses are amounts paid to private local contractors for the Authority’s door-
to-door Project Mainstream service. Project Mainstream provides service-on-demand in minibuses equipped 
with wheelchair lifts for persons with disabilities. Contracted costs are based on a fixed fee in addition to a 
variable rate based on revenue hours provided. In 2020, 2019, and 2018, the Authority recognized a 21.1%,
11.6%, and 2.6% change respectively. 2020 had a significant expense increase for purchased transportation 
due to the supplemental usage during the COVID Pandemic to maintain service where ridership exceeded the 
capacity limits imposed by COTA to maintain social distancing for the Fixed Route service. The Mainstream
service was utilized for stops that were passed up due to the restrictions in place by the COVID restrictions for 
capacity. 2019 had a significant expense increase as a result of expanding services to include the provision of 
direct, door-to-door services to those Mainstream customers. 2018 had a slight expense increase that was in 
line with increases in service hours provided.

Services are provided by outside contractors to assist the Authority in completing professional, technical, 
consulting and maintenance related projects. In 2020, 2019, and 2018 the Authority recognized a 29.7%, 
33.0%, and -3.1% change, respectively, in the cost of services. These changes are mainly driven by 
information technology consultants, software maintenance, outside consulting for planning projects and 
outsourced facility maintenance expenses. Additional contractual services were required to perform tasks 
required during the COVID Pandemic, focus on changes from an on-premise work force to a remote work 
force, and provide additional sanitization for the coaches and facilities to remain operational throughout the 
COVID Pandemic.

Other Expenses consist primarily of utilities, taxes, advertising, leases and rentals, claims and insurance and 
other miscellaneous expenses. In 2020, 2019, and 2018, the Authority recognized a -12.3%, 5.2%, and 
13.6% change, respectively, in other expenses, mostly driven by a decrease in travel for staff, reduction in 
advertising expense, and decrease in cost not associated with direct operations.
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Depreciation Expense In 2020, 2019, and 2018, the Authority recognized 3.6%, 0.2%, and 6.4% increases 
respectively, over prior year depreciation expense. While the 2019 depreciation expense was consistent with 
the prior year, the 2020 increase was due to an overall increase in capital assets associated with the first full 
year of depreciation associated with BRT construction assets, addition of twenty-eight fixed route buses, and 
additional Paratransit buses for utilization in the COTA Plus Program.

Non-Operating Expense As a result of the 2010 US census, the City of Delaware has been classified as a 
part of the Columbus Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA). This change was effective with Federal Fiscal Year 
2013 which affected the funding status of the Delaware Area Transit Authority (DATA) moving them from a 
rural transit funded through Ohio Department of Transportation (ODOT) to an urban transit funded directly 
from the Federal Transit Administration via Section 5307 formula funds. The change has had a detrimental 
impact on DATA’s ability to utilize their federal funds from the urbanized area. DATA is unable to meet the 
local funding requirements to utilize their portion of the federal funding. With the assistance of MORPC, COTA 
and DATA entered into an agreement that specified the method of allocation that will be used going forward to 
split the 5307 funds awarded to the Columbus MSA on an annual basis. The allocation that DATA receives 
from this split is significantly less than the funding they received under the rural program administered by 
ODOT. In recognition of the financial dilemma that DATA is in, ODOT and COTA have entered into an 
agreement whereby DATA will receive local funding from COTA for use in public transportation in Delaware 
County and the FTA, upon advisement by ODOT, will transfer an equal amount of federal funds to COTA. In 
2020, 2019, and 2018, $2,242,304, $3,585,334, and $953,233 respectively, was transferred to Delaware Area 
Transit Authority.

The Authority has several on-going capital projects that require the improvement of assets that are not owned 
by the Authority. Such expenses cannot be classified as capital expenses of the Authority nor can they be 
classified as operating expenses of the Authority. In 2020, 2019, and 2018 these non-operating projects 
expenses were $460,625, $289,012, and $667,688, respectively.
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2020 2019

CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents……..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….……..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….163,096,630$     149,601,389$     

Receivables:

Sales tax………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..……..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….36,915,123         36,202,796         

Federal capital grants receivable...........................................…………………………………………………………………………………………………….……..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….22,294,902         13,167,366         

Federal operating assistance……………………………………………………………………..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….202,190              831,410              

Other………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..……..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….1,618,883           1,572,895           

Inventory of materials and supplies……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….……..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….4,532,405           4,588,386           

Other………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….……..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….1,669,056           1,222,268           

Board designated:

Cash and cash equivalents - self insurance……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….……..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….16,092,234         15,978,630         

Cash and cash equivalents - capital grants…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….……..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….10,554,040         13,221,556         

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….……..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….256,975,463       236,386,696       

NON-CURRENT ASSETS:

Fair value of derivative instruments……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….……..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….54,777                53,555                

Capital assets:

Nondepreciable - land…………………………………………………………………………………………………..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….10,908,509         11,456,847         

Nondepreciable - construction in progress…………………………………………………………………..……..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….63,900,606         34,800,883         

Net depreciable capital assets…………………………………………………………………………………………………………..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….189,264,653       189,429,503       

Capital assets, net……..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….……..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….264,073,768       235,687,233       

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..……..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….264,128,545       235,740,788       

TOTAL ASSETS…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..521,104,008       472,127,484       

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES:

Deferred outflow from derivative instruments……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….……..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….-                      100,285              

Pension/OPEB……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….49,065,292         42,313,055         

TOTAL DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES......................................................................................................……..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….49,065,292         42,413,340         

CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Accrued payroll and fringe benefits....................................................................................................................................……..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….10,576,318         9,148,868           

Accounts payable........................................................................................................................……..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….7,441,913           5,758,894           

Accrued payroll taxes.........................................................................................................................……..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….1,165,325           1,742,179           

Estimated workers' compensation claims……..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….……..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….478,120              370,421              

Estimated claims payable.........................................................................................................……..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….485,000              411,000              

Other current liabilities.....................................................................................................................……..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….1,624,266           1,422,726           

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES......................................................................................................……..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….21,770,942         18,854,088         

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Accrued fringe benefits...........................................………………………………………………………..……..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….1,300,378           1,316,951           

Estimated workers' compensation claims…………………………………………………………………..……..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….693,812              956,675              

Estimated claims payable.........................................................................................................……..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….86,900                115,518              

Fair value of derivative instruments……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….……..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….-                      100,285              

Net pension liability................................................................................................................……..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….102,189,495       110,351,252       

Net OPEB liability................................................................................................................……..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….72,044,732         53,405,611         

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES...........................................................................................……..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….176,315,317       166,246,292       

TOTAL LIABILITIES.......................................................................................................................................................................198,086,259       185,100,380       

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES:

Deferred inflow from derivative instruments……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….54,777                53,555                

Pension/OPEB……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………36,378,892         10,720,765         

TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES......................................................................................................……..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….36,433,669         10,774,320         

NET POSITION:

Investment in capital assets…………………………………………………………………………………………………...……………………………….264,073,768       235,687,233       

Unrestricted………………………………………………………………………………………………..………………………….……..….……...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….71,575,604         82,978,891         
TOTAL NET POSITION…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..335,649,372$     318,666,124$     

CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Statements of Net Position

December 31, 2020 and 2019

See notes to financial statements.
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2020 2019

OPERATING REVENUES:

Passenger fares for transit service.....................................................................................................4,166,012$         18,208,917$       

Special transit fares......................................................................................................................................200,487              822,880              

Total......................................................................................................................................................................................4,366,499           19,031,797         

OPERATING EXPENSES OTHER THAN DEPRECIATION:

Labor.....................................................................................................................................................................63,664,363         64,771,226         

Fringe benefits............................................................................................................................69,144,543         56,782,782         

Materials and supplies...............................................................................................................................10,991,246         13,003,490         

Fuel……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………3,498,041           5,604,153           

Purchased transportation.......................................................................................................................10,630,800         8,778,525           

Services................................................................................................................................................18,811,102         14,505,867         

Utilities...............................................................................................................................................2,556,023           2,713,131           

Taxes...................................................................................................................................................760,478              872,138              

Leases and rentals.................................................................................................................... 206,236              173,335              

Claims and insurance, net of settlements...............................................................................................................................594,645              469,096              

Advertising...............................................................................................................................................351,594              1,033,005           

Miscellaneous.............................................................................................................................................1,473,997           1,519,556           

Total..........................................................................................................................................................................182,683,068       170,226,304       

DEPRECIATION………………………………………………………………………………………… 30,556,473         29,499,960         

Total operating expenses.......................................................................................................213,239,541       199,726,264       

OPERATING LOSS…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………(208,873,042)      (180,694,467)      

NON-OPERATING REVENUES(EXPENSES):

Sales tax revenues.....................................................................................................................133,699,649       135,701,616       

Federal operating grants……………………………………………………………………………………………………….50,601,514         436,008              

State operating grants, reimbursements and

special fare assistance..................................................................................................................1,783,392           748,250              

Local operating grants……………………………………………………………………………………………………….255,975              -                      

Investment income.....................................................................................................................................1,188,206           3,976,278           

Regional transit subsidy……………………………………………………………………………………………………………..(2,242,304)          (3,585,334)          

Non-operating project expense………………………………………………………………………………….(460,625)             (289,012)             

Non-transportation and other revenue............................................................................................................1,792,205           1,557,032           

Loss on disposal of capital assets………………………………………………………………………..………………………………………………………………………..………………………………………………………………………..(1,010,270)          (74,904)               

Total.....................................................................................................................................................185,607,742       138,469,934       

CHANGE BEFORE CAPITAL GRANTS…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………(23,265,300)        (42,224,533)        

CAPITAL GRANT REVENUES:

Federal……………..………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..38,079,805         25,015,028         

State……………..………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..1,614,766           -                      

Local……………..………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..553,977              192,224              

Total.....................................................................................................................................................40,248,548         25,207,252         

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 16,983,248         (17,017,281)        

NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR…………………………………………………………………..............................................………………………………….….318,666,124       335,683,405       

NET POSITION, END OF YEAR..................................................………………………………………………………………………..335,649,372$     318,666,124$     

CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

See notes to financial statements.
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2020 2019

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Cash received from customers.......................................................................……………………………..4,366,499$         19,031,797$       

Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services..............................................................................……………………………….(47,021,693)        (50,630,811)        

Cash payments to employees for services..............................................................................………………………(62,236,913)        (64,133,535)        

Cash payments for employee benefits..............................................................................………………………….(40,354,716)        (35,670,668)        

Cash payments for casualty and liability..............................................................................………………………………….(704,427)             (271,600)             

Other receipts..............................................................................…………………………………………………………………………………1,299,429           1,902,850           

Net cash used in operating activities........................................................................................................................................................................(144,651,821) (129,771,967)

CASH FLOWS FROM NON-CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Sales taxes received............................................................................................................................................………………………………………132,987,322       135,118,940       
Federal operating assistance received...................................................................................................……………………………………………….51,230,734         -                          

Local assistance provided………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………(2,242,304)          (3,585,334)          

State operating and other assistance received........................................................................................................................…………………………….1,783,392           748,250              

Local operating and other assistance received........................................................................................................................…………………………….255,975              -                          

Net cash provided by non-capital financing activities.......................................................................................................................................................................…184,015,119 132,281,856

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Federal capital grants received.................................................................................................................…28,952,269         13,247,541         

State capital grants received.................................................................................................................…1,614,766           -                          

Local capital grants received.................................................................................................................…553,977              192,224              

Acquisition and construction of capital assets........................................................................................…………………………………………….(60,335,713)        (40,619,595)        

Acquisition and construction of non-capital project expenses.....................................................................…(460,625)             (289,012)             

Proceeds from sale of capital assets…………………………………………………………………………………………………..65,151                255,195              

Net cash used in capital and related financing activities.......................................................................................................................................................................…(29,610,175) (27,213,647)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Purchase of investments……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………-                          (365,946)             
Sale of investments……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………-                          15,978,630         

Interest received from investments.......................................................................................................…………………………………………….1,188,206           3,976,278           

Net cash provided by investing activities...................................................................................................................….1,188,206 19,588,962

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 10,941,329 (5,114,796)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR...........................................................……………………………………………………………178,801,575       183,916,371       

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR.....................................................................189,742,904$     178,801,575$     

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING LOSS TO NET CASH

USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Operating Loss…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………(208,873,042)$    (180,694,467)$    

Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….30,556,473         29,499,960         

Other receipts..............................................................................…………………………………………………………………………………………..1,792,205           1,557,032           

Change in assets and liabilities:

(Increase) Decrease in other receivables………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….(45,988)               477,729              

Decrease (Increase) in materials and supplies inventory………………………………………………………………………………………………………….55,981                (865,971)             

Increase in other assets……………………………………………..………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….(446,788)             (131,911)             

Increase in deferred outflows for pension/OPEB……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..(6,752,237)          (12,229,410)        
Increase (Decrease) in accounts payable, accrued compensation, 
   self-insurance liabilities and other…………………………………….…....... 2,926,084           (52,922)               

(Decrease) Increase in net pension liability……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….(8,161,757)          39,079,919         

Increase in net OPEB liability……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….18,639,121         3,305,017           

Increase (Decrease) in deferred inflows for pension/OPEB…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..25,658,127         (9,716,943)          

  Net cash used in operating activities………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..(144,651,821)$    (129,771,967)$    

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NONCASH ACTIVITY

Capital assets acquired through accounts payable….............................................................. 2,661,134$         2,978,418$         

CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

See notes to financial statements.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements

Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

(1) Organization and Reporting Entity

Organization
The Central Ohio Transit Authority (COTA or the Authority) is an independent, special purpose subdivision 
of the State of Ohio. The Authority was created on February 17, 1971, pursuant to Sections 306.30 through 
306.53 of the Ohio Revised Code for the purpose of providing public transportation in Central Ohio, 
primarily Franklin County and surrounding areas. The Authority commenced operations on January 1, 
1974. As a political subdivision, the Authority is distinct from, and is not an agency of, the State of Ohio or 
any other local government unit.

Under Ohio law, the Authority is authorized to levy a sales and use tax for transit purposes, including both 
capital improvement and operating expenses, in 0.25% increments up to a maximum rate of 1.5% if 
approved by a majority of the electors residing within the territorial boundaries of the Authority. Such a 
sales and use tax is in addition to the sales and use taxes levied by the State of Ohio and Franklin County. 
On November 5, 1999, the voters of Franklin County approved a permanent 0.25% sales and use tax. On 
November 8, 2016, the voters of Franklin County and surrounding counties within the COTA district 
renewed a temporary 10 year additional 0.25% sales and use tax.

The Authority also has the power, under Section 306.40 of the Ohio Revised Code, to levy and collect 
both voted (after approval at an election) and unvoted ad valorem taxes on all the taxable property within 
the territorial boundaries of the Authority, in order to pay debt service on its bonds and notes issued in 
anticipation thereof. Ad valorem taxes were not levied during fiscal year 2020.

The Authority is governed by a 13-member Board of Trustees; seven (7) members are appointed by the 
Mayor of Columbus; two (2) members are appointed by the Franklin County Commissioners; and four (4) 
members are appointed on a rotating basis by the cities of Bexley, Dublin, Gahanna, Grandview Heights, 
Grove City, Hilliard, Reynoldsburg, Upper Arlington, Westerville, Whitehall, and Worthington.

The Authority is not subject to federal or state income taxes.

Reporting Entity
The accompanying financial statements comply with the provisions of accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America in that these financial statements include all of the organization’s
activities, functions and component units for which the Authority is financially accountable. Financial 
accountability is defined as the appointment of a voting majority of the component unit’s board and either 
(1) the reporting entity’s ability to impose its will over the component unit, or (2) the possibility that the 
component unit will provide a financial benefit to or impose a financial burden on the reporting entity. COTA 
does not have financial accountability over any entities.

The City of Columbus (the City) is a related organization to COTA as the Mayor of the City, with the 
approval of City Council, appoints a voting majority of COTA’s Board. However, the financial statements 
of COTA are not included within the City’s “Reporting Entity” as the City cannot impose its will and there 
is no financial benefit or financial burden relationship between the City and COTA.

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Accounting
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting, whereby 
revenues and expenses are recognized in the period earned or incurred. All transactions are accounted 
for in a single enterprise fund.

The financial statements of the Authority have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP) applied to local governmental units. The Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting 
and financial principles.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements

Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Cash and Cash Equivalents
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Authority considers all highly liquid investments with a
maturity of three months or less when purchased and deposits in the State Treasurer’s Asset Reserve
investment pool (STAR Ohio) to be cash equivalents.

Grant and Assistance
The federal government, through the Federal Transit Administration (FTA), and the Ohio Department of
Transportation (ODOT), provides financial assistance and makes grants directly to the Authority for
operations and the acquisition of property and equipment.

Inventory of Materials and Supplies
Inventory items are stated at cost using the weighted average method. Inventory generally consists of
maintenance parts and supplies for transportation equipment. Fuel and inventory items are expensed
when consumed.

Derivative Instruments
The Authority’s derivative financial instruments are accounted for in accordance with GASB Statement No.
53, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Derivative Instrument and GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value
Measurement and Application. In connection with these Statements, the fair value of the Authority’s
derivative financial instruments is recorded on the Statements of Net Position, with an offsetting deferred
inflow or outflow of resources. At December 31, 2020, the fair value of the Authority’s derivative
instruments are offset by a deferred inflow of resources. At December 31, 2019, the fair value of the
Authority’s derivative instruments are offset by a deferred outflow of resources for diesel and a deferred
inflow of resources for natural gas.

Derivative instruments are utilized by the Authority to manage market risk and reduce its exposure
resulting from fluctuations in prices of diesel fuel and natural gas in order to manage year-over-year
changes in energy costs. These instruments include commodity swap agreements which convert index-
priced diesel fuel and natural gas revenues to fixed prices.

Board Designated Assets
These assets are designated for the payment of public liability claims under the Authority’s self-insurance
program and for future capital expenditures.

Designated for Capital Grant Expenditures
These assets are board-designated under the Authority’s capital grants. The Authority includes amounts
relating to its local share requirements for active capital grants.

Net Position

Equity is displayed in two components as follows:

Investment in capital assets – This consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, less the 
outstanding balances of any bonds, notes, or other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, 
construction, or improvements of those assets; the Authority has no such debt.

Unrestricted – This consists of net position that does not meet the definition of “investment in capital 
assets”.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements

Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Classifications of Revenues
The Authority has classified its revenue as operating, non-operating or capital grant. Operating revenue 
includes activities that have the characteristics of exchange transactions including passenger fares and 
advertising. Non-operating revenue includes activities that have the characteristics of non-exchange 
transactions, such as sales tax proceeds and most federal, state, or other reimbursement or donation for 
the acquisition of property and equipment.

Recognition of Revenue and Receivables
The federal government, through the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) and the Ohio Department of 
Transportation (ODOT), provides financial assistance and makes grants directly to the Authority for 
operations and acquisition of property and equipment. Operating grants and special fare assistance 
awards made on the basis of entitlement periods are recorded as grant receivables and revenues over the 
entitlement periods. Capital grants for the acquisition of property and equipment (reimbursement type 
grants) are recorded as grant receivables and credited to non-operating revenues in the period capital
expenses are incurred. Capital grants received in advance of project costs being incurred are deferred.

When assets acquired with capital grant funds are disposed of before their useful life, the Authority is 
required to notify the granting federal agency if the fair market value of the asset exceeds $5,000 at the 
time of disposal. A proportional amount of the proceeds or fair market value, if any, of such property and 
equipment, may be used to acquire like-kind replacement assets; and if not replaced, remitted to the 
granting federal agency.

Property and Depreciation
Property and equipment are stated at historical cost and include expenses that substantially increase the 
useful lives of existing assets. Routine maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. An asset is 
capitalized if its value exceeds $5,000 and it has an economic life of greater than one year. The 
capitalization cost of a physical asset is defined to be the full cost of placing the asset into productive 
service. 

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the respective 
assets, as follows:

Description Years

Land and leasehold improvements 5-20
Buildings and improvements 20-40
Revenue vehicles 4-12
Transit shelters 5-8
Other equipment 2-10

Assets acquired with capital grants are included in property and equipment and depreciation on those 
assets is included in the Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position. Donated capital 
assets are recorded at the acquisition value as of the date donated.

Estimated Claims Payable
The Authority has a self-insurance program for public liability, personal injury, property damage and 
workers’ compensation (see Note 9). Claims are accrued in the year the expenses are incurred, based 
upon estimates of the claim liabilities made by management and the legal counsel of the Authority. Also 
provided for are estimates of claims incurred during the year but not yet reported. These estimates are 
based on past experience and current outstanding claims.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements

Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Compensated Absences
The Authority accrues vacation and sick pay benefits as earned by its employees. In the event of 
termination, an employee is reimbursed for accumulated vacation and sick leave at various rates. Non-
current accrued fringe benefits are estimated based on the average vacation and sick leave expense from 
the previous five years.

Current Non-current

Compensated Absences Liability December 31, 2018 4,030,975$   1,338,889$   

Vacation & Sick Liability Earned 6,480,429    -              

Vacation & Sick Liability Paid (6,005,096)   (21,938)        

Compensated Absences Liability December 31, 2019 4,506,308$   1,316,951$   

Vacation & Sick Liability Earned 8,546,429    -              

Vacation & Sick Liability Paid (7,810,191)   (16,573)        

Compensated Absences Liability December 31, 2020 5,242,546$   1,300,378$   

Payment of vacation and sick leave is dependent on many factors; therefore, timing of future payments is 
not readily determinable. However, management believes that sufficient resources will be made available 
for the payment of vacation and sick leave when such payments become due.

Passenger Fares
Passenger fares are recorded as revenue at the time services are performed.

Budgetary Accounting and Control
The Authority’s annual budget is prepared on the accrual basis of accounting as permitted by law. The 
Authority maintains budgetary control by not allowing total expenditures to exceed total appropriations 
without approval of the Board of Trustees, with the exception of net pension and OPEB expense, which 
are not included in the Authority’s budget.

Use of Estimates
The accounting and reporting policies of COTA conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America (GAAP). The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
deferred outflows of resources and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and 
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

Non-exchange Transactions
Non-exchange transactions, in which the Authority receives value without directly giving equal value in 
return, include sales and use tax revenue and grants. On an accrual basis, revenue from sales and use 
taxes is recognized in the period when the underlying exchange transaction occurs. Therefore, taxes on 
items sold in 2020 will be recognized as revenue in 2020. Revenue from grants is recognized in the fiscal 
year in which all eligibility requirements have been satisfied. Eligibility requirements include timing 
requirements, which specify the year when the resources are required to be used or the fiscal year when 
use is first permitted, and expenditure requirements, in which the resources are provided to the Authority 
on a reimbursement basis.
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(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Deferred Outflows of Resources
In addition to assets, the statements of financial position reports a separate section for deferred outflows 
of resources. This separate financial statement element represents a consumption of net position that 
applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources until then. For the 
Authority, deferred outflows of resources are reported on the Statements of Net Position for the 
accumulated decrease in the fair value of the hedging derivatives, pension and OPEB. As the derivative 
qualifies as an effective hedge, the change in fair value which occurs each year is deferred and thus the 
liability and deferred outflow are adjusted. The deferred outflows of resources related to pension and 
OPEB plans are explained in Notes 10 and 11.

Deferred Inflows of Resources
In addition to liabilities, the statements of financial position report a separate section for deferred inflows 
of resources. Deferred inflows of resources represent an acquisition of net position that applies to a future 
period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources until that time. For the Authority, deferred 
inflows of resources are reported on the Statements of Net Position for the accumulated increase in the 
fair value of the hedging derivatives, pension and OPEB. As the derivative qualifies as an effective hedge, 
the change in fair value which occurs each year is deferred and thus the asset and deferred inflow are 
adjusted. The deferred inflows of resources related to pension and OPEB plans are explained in Notes 10 
and 11.

Pensions/Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB)
For purposes of measuring the net pension and net OPEB liabilities, deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions and OPEB, and pension and OPEB expenses, 
information about the fiduciary net position of the pension and OPEB plans and additions to/deductions 
from their fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the 
pension and OPEB plans. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee 
contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. The pension
and OPEB plans report investments at fair value.

Reclassifications
Certain amounts reported in 2019 have been reclassified in order to conform to 2020 financial statement
presentation (see Note 14 for additional discussion).

(3) Upcoming Accounting Pronouncements

GASB Statement No. 87, Leases, was issued to better meet the information needs of financial statement 
users by improving accounting and financial reporting for leases by governments. The requirements of 
GASB Statement No. 87 are effective for 2022. The Authority is currently evaluating the impact GASB 
Statement No. 87 may have on its financial statements.

GASB Statement No. 89, Accounting for lnterest Cost lncurred before the End of a Construction Period, 
was issued to enhance the relevance and comparability of information about capital assets and the costs
of borrowing for a period and to simplify accounting for interest cost incurred before the end of a 
construction period. The requirements of GASB Statement No. 89 are effective for 2021. The Authority is 
currently evaluating the impact GASB Statement No. 89 may have on its financial statements.
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(4) Cash and Investments

The investment and deposit of Authority monies are governed by the provisions of the Ohio Revised Code. 
In accordance with these statutes, only financial institutions located in Ohio are eligible to hold public 
deposits. The statutes also permit the Authority to invest its monies in certificates of deposit, savings 
accounts, money market accounts, the State Treasurer’s Asset Reserve investment pool (STAR Ohio), 
and obligations of the United States government or certain agencies thereof. The Authority may also enter 
into repurchase agreements with any eligible depository for a period not exceeding thirty days.

STAR Ohio is an investment pool managed by the State Treasurer’s Office, which allows governments 
within the State to pool their funds for investment purposes. STAR Ohio is not registered with the SEC as 
an investment company but has adopted GASB Statement No. 79, Certain External Investment Pools and 
Pool Participants. The Authority measures its investment in STAR Ohio at the net asset value (NAV) per 
share provided by STAR Ohio. The NAV per share is calculated on an amortized cost basis that provides 
a NAV per share that approximates fair value. For 2020, there were no limitations or restrictions on any 
participant withdrawals due to redemption notice periods, liquidity fees, or redemption gates. However, 
notice must be given 24 hours in advance of all deposits and withdrawals exceeding $100 million for 2020 
and $25 million for 2019. STAR Ohio reserves the right to limit the transaction to $100 million, requiring 
the excess amount to be transacted the following business days(s), but on to the $100 million limit. All 
accounts of the participant will be combined for these purposes.

Deposits with Financial Institutions
Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of bank failure, the Authority will not be able to recover 
deposits or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. Although all statutory 
requirements for the deposit of money had been followed, noncompliance with Federal requirements could 
potentially subject the Authority to a successful claim by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. The 
Authority has no deposit policy for custodial risk beyond the requirements of State statute. Ohio law 
requires that deposits either be insured or be protected by:

Eligible securities pledged to the Authority and deposited with a qualified trustee by the financial 
institution as security for repayment whose market value at all times shall be at least 105 percent 
of the deposits being secured; or 

Participation in the Ohio Pooled Collateral System (OPCS), a collateral pool of eligible securities 
deposited with a qualified trustee and pledged to the Treasurer of State to secure the repayment 
of all public monies deposited in the financial institution. OPCS requires the total market value of 
the securities pledged to be 102 percent of the deposits being secured or a rate set by the 
Treasurer of State.

At December 31, 2020, the carrying amount of the Authority’s deposits with financial institutions was 
$6,377,871 and the bank balance was $6,399,256. The difference results from outstanding checks and 
deposits in transit. At December 31, 2020, $250,050 was covered by Federal Deposit Insurance. 
$6,149,206 was collateralized with securities deposited with a qualified trustee and pledged to the 
Treasurer of State. In addition, the Authority had $5,102 of cash on hand.

At December 31, 2019, the carrying amount of the Authority’s deposits with financial institutions was 
$6,595,035 and the bank balance was $8,782,561. The difference results from outstanding checks and 
deposits in transit. At December 31, 2019, $250,000 was covered by Federal Deposit Insurance. 
$8,532,561 was collateralized with securities deposited with a qualified trustee and pledged to the 
Treasurer of State. In addition, the Authority had $6,189 of cash on hand.
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(4) Cash and Investments (continued)

Other Deposits
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Authority held equity of $183,359,931 and $172,200,351,
respectively, in the STAR Ohio investment pool. STAROhio is rated AAAm by Standard and Poor’s. This 
investment has not been categorized based on a custodial risk because it is not a security. The relationship 
between the Authority and the investment asset is a direct contractual relationship and the investments 
evidence ownership or creditorship.

(5) Commitments

The Authority has several active projects as of December 31, 2020. At year-end, the Authority’s 
commitments with contractors are as follows:

Remaining 

Project Spent-to-Date Commitment

Content Management System 3,067$         336,933$     

SmartYard and AVM 1,025,098    103,231       

Fields Avenue Renovation 45,778,929   5,915,403    

McKinley Avenue Renovation Phase 3C 856,206       3,268,397    

Electric Bus Pilot Program 17,404         2,278,627    

Trapeze Upgrade 3,808,565    286,468       

COTA Plus Fleet Vehicles 384,113       317,912       

BRT Shelter rReplacement 172,000       328,000       

IT Core Infrastructure 1,299,202    423,813       

Vehicle Connectivity Upgrade 1,436,540    24               

Mobility Van Replacement 2,005,894    1,824,500    

Fare Management System -              656,442       

East-West Corridor - BRT -              2,000,000    

56,787,018$ 17,739,750$ 
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(6) Capital Assets

Capital asset activities for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

January 1, Reclassifications/ December 31,

2020 Additions Disposals Transfers 2020

Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated

   Land 11,456,847$      -$                  (548,338)$          -$                  10,908,509$      

   CIP 34,800,883        42,024,397        -                   (12,924,674)       63,900,606        

Total 46,257,730        42,024,397        (548,338)           (12,924,674)       74,809,115        

Capital Assets Being Depreciated

   Land and leasehold improvements 18,288,482        66,000              (44,983)             13,029              18,322,528        

   Building and improvements 162,006,057      -                   -                   3,301,423          165,307,480      

   Revenue vehicles 161,809,664      16,846,347        (8,433,597)         533,713            170,756,127      

   Transit shelter 10,854,885        8,684                -                   -                   10,863,569        

   Other equipment 56,942,015        1,073,001          (30,229)             9,076,509          67,061,296        

Total 409,901,103      17,994,032        (8,508,809)         12,924,674        432,311,000      

Less Accumulated Depreciation

   Land and leasehold improvements (6,033,610)         (1,318,853)         15,932              -                   (7,336,531)         

   Building and improvements (83,005,175)       (8,546,495)         -                   -                   (91,551,670)       

   Revenue vehicles (87,752,861)       (13,535,437)       7,936,939          -                   (93,351,359)       

   Transit shelter (4,268,217)         (1,195,997)         -                   -                   (5,464,214)         

   Other equipment (39,411,737)       (5,959,691)         28,855              -                   (45,342,573)       

Total (220,471,600)     (30,556,473)       7,981,726          -                   (243,046,347)     

Total Capital Assets Being 

   Depreciated, Net 189,429,503      (12,562,441)       (527,083)           12,924,674        189,264,653      

Total Capital Assets Net 235,687,233$    29,461,956$      (1,075,421)$       -$                  264,073,768$    

January 1, Reclassifications/ December 31,

2019 Additions Disposals Transfers 2019

Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated

   Land 11,456,847$      -$                  -$                  -$                  11,456,847$      

   CIP 11,470,185        25,806,604        -                   (2,475,906)         34,800,883        

Total 22,927,032        25,806,604        -                   (2,475,906)         46,257,730        

Capital Assets Being Depreciated

   Land and leasehold improvements 18,288,482        -                   -                   -                   18,288,482        

   Building and improvements 159,913,334      89,905              -                   2,002,818          162,006,057      

   Revenue vehicles 152,220,681      16,027,067        (6,438,084)         -                   161,809,664      

   Transit shelter 10,854,885        -                   -                   -                   10,854,885        

   Other equipment 56,408,822        576,923            (516,818)           473,088            56,942,015        

Total 397,686,204      16,693,895        (6,954,902)         2,475,906          409,901,103      

Less Accumulated Depreciation

   Land and leasehold improvements (4,649,253)         (1,384,357)         -                   -                   (6,033,610)         

   Building and improvements (74,539,620)       (8,465,555)         -                   -                   (83,005,175)       

   Revenue vehicles (80,695,672)       (13,230,738)       6,173,549          -                   (87,752,861)       

   Transit shelter (3,021,163)         (1,247,054)         -                   -                   (4,268,217)         

   Other equipment (34,690,735)       (5,172,256)         451,254            -                   (39,411,737)       

Total (197,596,443)     (29,499,960)       6,624,803          -                   (220,471,600)     

Total Capital Assets Being 

   Depreciated, Net 200,089,761      (12,806,065)       (330,099)           2,475,906          189,429,503      

Total Capital Assets Net 223,016,793$    13,000,539$      (330,099)$          -$                  235,687,233$    
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(7) Leases

COTA leases certain property and equipment under operating leases. Rental expense for all operating 
leases was $206,236 and $173,334 in 2020 and 2019, respectively. Future minimum payments, by year, 
and in the aggregate, under these leases with initial or remaining terms of one year or more, consisted of 
the following at December 31, 2020:

Commitments

under Operating

Leases

2021 6,660$          

2022 6,927            

2023 7,204            

2024 7,492            

2025 7,792            

2026 and forward 8,103            

Total Minimum Lease Payments 44,178$         

(8) Grants, Reimbursements and Special Fare Assistance

Grants, reimbursements and special fare assistance included in the Statements of Revenues, Expenses 
and Changes in Net Position for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 consist of the following:

Federal: 2020 2019

   FTA Capital Assistance 38,079,805$      25,015,028$      

   FTA Operating Assistance 50,601,514        436,008            

Total 88,681,319$      25,451,036$      

State:

   State Capital Assistance 1,614,766$        -$                  

   ODOT Fuel Tax Reimbursement 636,750            748,250            

   State Operating Assistance 1,146,642          -                   

Total 3,398,158$        748,250$           

Local:

   City of Columbus Reimbursement 553,977$           192,224$           

   Local Operating Assistance 255,975            -                   

Total 809,952$           192,224$           

(9) Risk Management

COTA is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft or destruction of assets, injuries to 
employees and natural disasters. The Authority purchases commercial insurance for employee bonding, 
flood, fire, property, crime, travel and general liability. There have been no reductions in coverage nor have 
there been any settlements exceeding insurance coverage for the past three years.
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(9) Risk Management (continued)

COTA is self-insured for all public liability, personal injury and property damage claims. The estimated
liability for such claims of $571,900 at December 31, 2020, and $526,518 at December 31, 2019, are
included in estimated claims payable in the accompanying Statements of Net Position. At December 31,
2020 and 2019 $16,092,234 and $15,978,630, respectively, was designated by the Board of Trustees to
fund the self-insurance program. Such funds are included in board designated assets in the accompanying
Statements of Net Position.

Prior to June 30, 1998, COTA was insured through the State of Ohio Bureau of Workers’ Compensation
(BWC) for injuries to its employees. On July 1, 1998, the Authority entered into an agreement with the
BWC to become self-insured for claims pertaining to work-related injuries to Authority employees occurring
on or after that date. The BWC agreed to continue to administer and pay all compensation claims arising
on or before June 30, 1998. The estimated remaining liability for all such claims occurring since July 1,
1998, is $1,171,932 at December 31, 2020 and $1,327,096 at December 31, 2019 and is included as a
liability in the accompanying Statements of Net Position.

The general claims liability was calculated by establishing reserves on a case-by-case basis after analysis
by in-house counsel and outside attorneys. The workers’ compensation liability was determined by
analyzing claim lag information provided by COTA’s third party administrators. A summary of changes in
self-insurance claims liability for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 follows:

Workers'

General Liability Compensation

Claims liability at December 31, 2018 253,353$           1,402,765$        

Incurred claims, net of favorable settlements 672,040 608,568

Claims paid (398,875) (684,237)

Claims liability at December 31, 2019 526,518$           1,327,096$        

Incurred claims, net of favorable settlements 504,282 554,079

Claims paid (458,900) (709,243)

Claims liability at December 31, 2020 571,900$           1,171,932$        

There were no changes to the above policies during the current fiscal year. Claims experience over the 
past three years indicates that there were no instances of losses exceeding reserves. The amount of 
general liability and workers’ compensation reserve expected to be paid within one year is $963,120 and
$781,421, for 2020 and 2019 respectively.

(10) Pension Plan

Net Pension Liability
The net pension liability reported on the Statements of Net Position represents a liability to employees for
pensions. Pensions are a component of exchange transactions—between an employer and its
employees—of salaries and benefits for employee services. Pensions are provided to an employee—on
a deferred-payment basis—as part of the total compensation package offered by an employer for
employee services each financial period. The obligation to sacrifice resources for pensions is a present
obligation because it was created as a result of employment exchanges that already have occurred.

The net pension liability represents the Authority’s proportionate share of the pension plan’s collective
actuarial present value of projected benefit payments attributable to past periods of service, net of the
pension plan’s fiduciary net position. The net pension liability calculation is dependent on critical long-term
variables, including estimated average life expectancies, earnings on investments, cost of living
adjustments and others. While these estimates use the best information available, unknowable future
events require adjusting this estimate annually.
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(10) Pension Plan (continued)

Ohio Revised Code limits the Authority’s obligation for this liability to annually required payments. The 
Authority cannot control benefit terms or the manner in which pensions are financed; however, the 
Authority does receive the benefit of employees’ services in exchange for compensation including pension.

GASB Statement No. 68 assumes the liability is solely the obligation of the employer, because (1) they 
benefit from employee services; and (2) State statute requires all funding to come from these employers. 
All contributions to date have come solely from these employers (which also includes costs paid in the 
form of withholdings from employees). State statute requires the pension plan to amortize unfunded 
liabilities within 30 years. If the amortization period exceeds 30 years, the pension plan’s Board must 
propose corrective action to the State legislature. Any resulting legislative change to benefits or funding 
could significantly affect the net pension liability. Resulting adjustments to net pension liability would be 
effective when the changes are legally enforceable.

The proportionate share of the pension plan’s unfunded benefits is presented as a long-term net pension 
liability on the accrual basis of accounting. Any liability for the contractually-required pension contributions 
outstanding at the end of the year is included in accrued payroll and fringe benefits.

Plan Description – Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS)

Authority employees participate in the Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS). OPERS 
administers three separate pension plans. The Traditional Pension Plan is a cost-sharing, multiple-
employer defined benefit pension plan. The Member-Directed Plan is a defined contribution plan and the 
Combined Plan is a cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan with defined contribution 
features. While members (e.g., Authority employees) may elect the Member-Directed Plan and the 
Combined Plan, the majority of employee members are in OPERS’ Traditional Plan; therefore, the 
following disclosures focus on the Traditional Pension Plan.

OPERS provides retirement, disability, survivor and death benefits, and annual cost of living adjustments 
to members of the Traditional Plan. Authority to establish and amend benefits is provided by Chapter 145 
of the Ohio Revised Code (ORC). OPERS issues a stand-alone financial report that includes financial 
statements, required supplementary information and detailed information about OPERS’ fiduciary net 
position that may be obtained by visiting https://www.opers.org/financial/reports.shtml, by writing to Ohio 
Public Employees Retirement System, 277 East Town Street, Columbus, OH 43215-4642, or by calling 
800-222-7377.

Senate Bill (SB) 343 was enacted into law with an effective date of January 7, 2013. In the legislation, 
members were categorized into three groups with varying provisions of the law applicable to each group. 
The following table provides age and service requirements for retirement and the retirement formula 
applied to final average salary (FAS) for the three member groups under the Traditional Pension Plan as 
per the reduced benefits adopted by SB 343 (see OPERS’ annual financial report referenced above for 
additional information):

Group A Group B Group C
Eligible to retire prior to 20 years of service credit prior to Members not in other Groups

January 7, 2013 or five years January 7, 2013 or eligible to retire and members hired on or after
after January 7, 2013 ten years after January 7, 2013 January 7, 2013

State and Local State and Local State and Local

Age and Service Requirements: Age and Service Requirements: Age and Service Requirements:
Age 60 with 5 years of service Age 60 with 5 years of service credit Age 57 with 25 years of service credit
credit or Age 55 with 25 years of or Age 55 with 25 years of service or Age 62 with 5 years of service credit
service credit credit

Formula: Formula: Formula:
2.2% of FAS multiplied by years of 2.2% of FAS multiplied by year of 2.2% of FAS multiplied by years of 
service for the first 30 years and service for the first 30 years and 2.5% service for the first 35 years and 2.5%
2.5% for service years in excess of for service years in excess of 30 years for service years in excess of 35 years
30 years
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(10) Pension Plan (continued)

Final average salary (FAS) represents the average of the three highest years of earnings over a member’s 
career for Groups A and B. Group C is based on the average of the five highest years of earnings over a 
member’s career.

Members who retire before meeting the age and years of service credit requirement for unreduced benefits 
receive a percentage reduction in the benefit amount.

When a benefit recipient has received benefits for 12 months, an annual cost of living adjustment (COLA) 
is provided. This COLA is calculated on the base retirement benefit at the date of retirement and is not 
compounded. For those retiring prior to January 7, 2013, the COLA will continue to be a 3% simple annual 
COLA. For those retiring subsequent to January 7, 2013, beginning in calendar year 2019, the COLA was 
be based on the average percentage increase in the Consumer Price Index, capped at 3%.

Funding Policy—The ORC provides statutory authority for member and employer contributions. For 2020, 
member contribution rates were 10% of salary and employer contribution rates were 14%. Employer 
contribution rates are actuarially determined and are expressed as a percentage of covered payroll. The 
Authority’s contractually required contribution was $9,193,402 for 2020. Of this amount, $840,503 is 
reported as accrued payroll and fringe benefits.

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources Related to
Pensions

The net pension liability for OPERS was measured as of December 31, 2019 and the total pension liability 
used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The 
Authority’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on the Authority’s share of contributions to the 
pension plan relative to the contributions of all participating entities. Following is information related to the 
proportionate share:

Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability 102,189,495$    

Proportion of the Net Pension Liability 0.5170047%

Change in Proportion 0.1140861%

Pension Expense 25,628,589$      

At December 31, 2020, the Authority reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Change in assumptions 5,458,115$      

Change in proportionate share and difference in employer contributions 14,470,779      

Authority contributions subsequent to measurement date 9,193,402        

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 29,122,296$    

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience (1,292,040)$     

Net difference between projected and actual earning on pension 

plan investments (20,384,508)     

Change in proportionate share and difference in employer contributions (2,490,606)       

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources (24,167,154)$   
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(10) Pension Plan (continued)

$9,193,402 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pension resulting from Authority 
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension 
liability in the year ending December 31, 2021. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources 
and deferred inflows of resources related to pension will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year Ending December 31:

2021 4,427,202$      

2022 (1,415,588)       

2023 844,117           

2024 (8,093,991)       

(4,238,260)$     

Actuarial Assumptions – OPERS

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the values of reported amounts and 
assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include 
assumptions about future employment, mortality and cost trends. Actuarially determined amounts are 
subject to continual review or modification as actual results are compared with past expectations and new 
estimates are made about the future.

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan as 
understood by the employers and plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the time of 
each valuation. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2019, actuarial valuation was determined 
using the following actuarial assumptions:

Wage inflation 3.25%
Future salary increases,
  Including inflation 3.25% to 10.75%
COLA or Ad Hoc COLA Pre 1/7/2013 retirees: 3% simple;

Post 1/7/2013 retirees: 1.4% simple through 
2020, then 2.15% simple

Investment rate of return 7.20%
Actuarial cost method Individual entry age

Pre-retirement mortality rates are based on the RP-2014 Employees mortality table for males and females, 
adjusted for mortality improvement back to the observation period base year of 2006. The base year for 
males and females was then established to be 2015 and 2010, respectively. Post-retirement morality rates 
are based on the RP-2014 Healthy Annuitant mortality table for males and females, adjusted for mortality 
improvement back to the observation period base year of 2006. The base year for males and females was 
then established to be 2015 and 2010, respectively. Post-retirement mortality rates for disabled retirees 
are based on the RP-2014 Disabled mortality table for males and females, adjusted for mortality 
improvement back to the observation period base year of 2006. The base year for males and females was 
then established to be 2015 and 2010, respectively. Mortality rates for a particular calendar year are 
determined by applying the MP-2015 mortality improvement scale to all of the above described table.

The most recent experience study was completed for the five-year period ended December 31, 2015.
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(10) Pension Plan (continued)

The long-term expected rate of return on defined benefit investment assets was determined using a 
building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return are developed 
for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected real rate of 
return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage, 
adjusted for inflation.

During 2019, OPERS managed investments in three investment portfolios: the Defined Benefit portfolio, 
the Health Care portfolio, and the Defined Contribution portfolio. The Defined Benefit portfolio contains the 
investment assets for the Traditional Pension Plan, the defined benefit component of the Combined Plan 
and the annuitized accounts of the Member-Directed Plan. Within the Defined Benefit portfolio, 
contributions into the plans are all recorded at the same time, and benefit payments all occur on the first 
of the month. Accordingly, the money-weighted rate of return is considered to be the same for all plans 
within the portfolio. The annual money-weighted rate of return expressing investment performance, net of 
investment expenses and adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested, for the Defined Benefit 
portfolio was a loss of 17.2% for 2019.

The allocation of investment assets with the Defined Benefit portfolio is approved by the Board of Trustees 
as outlined in the annual investment plan. Plan assets are managed on a total return basis with a long-
term objective of achieving and maintaining a fully funded status for the benefits provided through the 
defined benefit pension plans. The table below displays the Board-approved asset allocation policy for 
2019 and the long-term expected real rates of return:

Weighted Average
Long-Term Expected

Target Real Rate of Return
Asset Class Allocation (Arithmetic)

Fixed Income 25.00% 1.83%
Domestic Equities 19.00% 5.75%
Real Estate 10.00% 5.20%
Private Equity 12.00% 10.70%
International Equities 21.00% 7.66%
Other Investments   13.00% 4.98%

Total 100.00% 5.61%

Discount Rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.20%. The projection 
of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members and 
those of the contributing employers are made at the statutorily required rates. Based on those 
assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected 
future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on 
pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total 
pension liability.
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(10) Pension Plan (continued)

Sensitivity of the Authority’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the 
Discount Rate. The following table represents the Authority’s proportionate share of the net pension 
liability calculated using the current period discount rate assumption of 7.20%, as well as what the 
Authority’s proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount 
rate that is one-percentage point lower (6.20%) and one-percentage point higher (8.20%) than the current 
rate:

Current

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

(6.20%) (7.20%) (8.20%)

Authority's proportionate share 

  of the net pension liability 168,549,331$   102,189,495$   42,540,610$    

(11) Other Postemployment Benefit (OPEB) Plans

Net OPEB Liability
The net OPEB liability reported on the Statements of Net Position represents a liability to employees for 
OPEB. OPEB is a component of exchange transactions—between an employer and its employees—of 
salaries and benefits for employee services. OPEB are provided to an employee—on a deferred-payment 
basis—as part of the total compensation package offered by an employer for employee services each 
financial period. The obligation to sacrifice resources for OPEB is a present obligation because it was 
created as a result of employment exchanges that already have occurred.

The net OPEB liability represents the Authority’s proportionate share of each OPEB plan’s collective 
actuarial present value of projected benefit payments attributable to past periods of service, net of each 
OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position. The net OPEB liability calculation is dependent on critical long-term 
variables, including estimated average life expectancies, earnings on investments, cost of living 
adjustments, health care cost trends and others. While these estimates use the best information available, 
unknowable future events require adjusting these estimates annually.

Ohio Revised Code limits the Authority’s obligation for this liability to annual required payments. The 
Authority cannot control benefit terms or the manner in which OPEB are financed; however, the Authority 
does receive the benefit of employees’ services in exchange for compensation including OPEB.

GASB Statement No. 75 assumes the liability is solely the obligation of the employer, because they benefit 
from employee services. OPEB contributions come from these employers and health care plan enrollees 
which pay a portion of the health care costs in the form of a monthly premium. The Ohio Revised Code 
permits, but does not require, the retirement systems to provide health care to eligible benefit recipients. 
Any change to benefits or funding could significantly affect the net OPEB liability. Resulting adjustments 
to the net OPEB liability would be effective when the changes are legally enforceable. The retirement 
systems may allocate a portion of the employer contributions to provide for these OPEB benefits.

The proportionate share of the plan’s unfunded benefits is presented as a long-term net OPEB liability on 
the accrual basis of accounting. Any liability for contractually-required OPEB contributions outstanding at 
the end of the year is included in accrued payroll and fringe benefits on the accrual basis of accounting.
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(11) Other Postemployment Benefit (OPEB) Plans (continued)

Plan Description – Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS)

The Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS) administers three separate pension plans: the 
Traditional Pension Plan, a cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit plan; the Member-Directed 
Plan, a defined contribution plan; and the Combined Plan, a cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined 
benefit plan that has elements of both a defined benefit and defined contribution plan. 

OPERS maintains a cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit post-employment health care trust, 
which funds multiple health care plans including medical coverage, prescription drug coverage and 
deposits to a Health Reimbursement Arrangement to qualifying benefit recipients of both the Traditional 
Pension and Combined plans. This trust is also used to fund health care for Member-Directed plan 
participants, in the form of a Retiree Medical Account (RMA). At retirement or refund, Member-Directed 
plan participants may be eligible for reimbursement of qualified medical expenses from their vested RMA 
balance.

In order to qualify for postemployment health care coverage, age and service retirees under the Traditional 
Pension and Combined plans must have twenty or more years of qualifying Ohio service credit. Health 
care coverage for disability benefit recipients and qualified survivor benefit recipients is available. The 
health care coverage provided by OPERS meets the definition of an other postemployment benefit (OPEB) 
as described in GASB Statement No. 75. See OPERS’ annual financial report referenced below for
additional information.

The Ohio Revised Code permits, but does not require, OPERS to provide health care to its eligible benefit 
recipients. Authority to establish and amend health care coverage is provided to the Board in Chapter 145 
of the Ohio Revised Code.

Disclosures for the health care plan are presented separately in the OPERS financial report. Interested 
parties may obtain a copy by visiting https://www.opers.org/financial/reports.shtml, by writing to OPERS, 
277 East Town Street, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4642, or by calling (614) 222-5601 or 800-222-7377.

Funding Policy—The Ohio Revised Code provides statutory authority requiring public employers to fund 
postemployment health care through their contributions to OPERS. When funding is approved by OPERS’ 
Board of Trustees, a portion of each employer’s contribution to OPERS is set aside to fund OPERS health 
care plans. Beginning in 2018, health care is not being funded. 

Employer contribution rates are expressed as a percentage of the earnable salary of active members. In 
2020, state and local employers contributed at a rate of 14.0% of earnable salary. This is the maximum 
employer contribution rate permitted by the Ohio Revised Code. Active member contributions do not fund 
health care.

Each year, the OPERS Board determines the portion of the employer contribution rate that will be set 
aside to fund health care plans. The portion of Traditional Pension and Combined plans’ employer 
contributions allocated to health care was zero in 2020. The OPERS Board is also authorized to establish 
rules for the retiree or their surviving beneficiaries to pay a portion of the health care provided. Payment 
amounts vary depending on the number of covered dependents and the coverage selected. The employer 
contribution as a percentage of covered payroll deposited into the RMA for participants in the Member-
Directed Plan for 2020 was 4.0%.
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(11) Other Postemployment Benefit (OPEB) Plans (continued)

OPEB Liabilities, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources for Related to 
OPEB

The net OPEB liability and total OPEB liability for OPERS were determined by an actuarial valuation as of 
December 31, 2018, rolled forward to the measurement date of December 31, 2019, by incorporating the 
expected value of health care cost accruals, the actual health care payment, and interest accruals during 
the year. The Authority’s proportion of the net OPEB liability was based on the Authority’s share of 
contributions to the retirement system relative to the contributions of all participating entities. The following 
is information related to the proportionate share and OPEB expense:

Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability 72,044,732$      

Proportion of the Net OPEB Liability 0.5215871%

Change in Proportion 0.1119607%

OPEB Expense 12,948,067$      

At December 31, 2020, the Authority reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to OPEB from the following sources:

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience 1,932$            

Change in assumptions 11,403,914      

Change in proportionate share and difference in employer contributions 8,537,150        

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 19,942,996$    

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience (6,588,822)$     

Net difference between projected and actual earnings on plan investments (3,668,499)       

Change in proportionate share and difference in employer contributions (1,954,417)       

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources (12,211,738)$   

Amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in 
OPEB expense as follows:

Year Ending December 31:

2021 5,070,825$      

2022 4,225,100        

2023 2,920              

2024 (1,567,587)       

7,731,258$      
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(11) Other Postemployment Benefit (OPEB) Plans (continued)

Actuarial Assumptions – OPERS

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and
assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include
assumptions about future employment, mortality, and cost trends. Actuarially determined amounts are
subject to continual review or modification as actual results are compared with past expectations and new
estimates are made about the future.

Projections of health care costs for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan and
include the types of coverages provided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing
of costs between OPERS and plan members. The total OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial
valuation as of December 31, 2018, rolled forward to the measurement date of December 31, 2019. The
actuarial valuation used the following actuarial assumptions applied to all prior periods included in the
measurement in accordance with the requirements of GASB Statement No. 74:

Wage inflation 3.25%
Projected salary increases 3.25% to 10.75%, including wage inflation
Singe discount rate:
    Current measurement period 3.16%
    Prior measurement period 3.96%
Investment rate of return 6.00%
Municipal bond rate:
    Current measurement period 2.75%
    Prior measurement period 3.71%
Health care cost trend rate:
    Current measurement period 10.5% initial, 3.50% ultimate in 2030
    Prior measurement period 10.0% initial, 3.25% ultimate in 2029
Actuarial cost method Individual entry age

Pre-retirement mortality rates are based on the RP-2014 Employees mortality table for males and females, 
adjusted for mortality improvement back to the observation period base year of 2006. The base year for 
males and females was then established to be 2015 and 2010, respectively. Post-retirement mortality 
rates are based on the RP-2014 Healthy Annuitant mortality table for males and females, adjusted for 
improvement back to the observation period base year of 2006. The base year for males and females was 
then established to be 2015 and 2010, respectively. Post-retirement mortality rates for disabled retirees 
are based on the RP-2014 Disabled mortality table for males and females, adjusted for mortality 
improvement back to the observation period base year of 2006. The base year for males and females was 
then established to be 2015 and 2010, respectively. Mortality rates for a particular calendar year are 
determined by applying the MP-2015 mortality improvement scale to all of the above tables.

The most recent experience study was completed for the five-year period ended December 31, 2015.

The long-term expected rate of return on health care investment assets was determined using a building-
block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return are developed for each 
major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected real rate of return by 
weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage, adjusted for 
inflation.
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(11) Other Postemployment Benefit (OPEB) Plans (continued)

During 2019, OPERS managed investments in three investment portfolios: the Defined Benefit portfolio, 
the Health Care portfolio and the Defined Contribution portfolio. The Health Care portfolio includes the 
assets for health care expenses for the Traditional Pension Plan, Combined Plan and Member-Directed 
Plan eligible members. Within the Health Care portfolio, contributions into the plans are assumed to be 
received continuously throughout the year based on the actual payroll payable at the time contributions 
are made, and health care-related payments are assumed to occur mid-year. Accordingly, the money-
weighted rate of return is considered to be the same for all plans within the portfolio. The annual money-
weighted rate of return expressing investment performance, net of investment expenses and adjusted for 
the changing amounts actually invested, for the Health Care portfolio was 19.7% for 2019.

The allocation of investment assets within the Health Care portfolio is approved by the OPERS Board as 
outlined in the annual investment plan. Assets are managed on a total return basis with a long-term 
objective of continuing to offer a sustainable health care program for current and future retirees. OPERS’ 
primary goal is to achieve and maintain a fully funded status for benefits provided through the defined 
pension plans. Health care is a discretionary benefit. The table below displays the OPERS Board-approved 
asset allocation policy for 2019 and the long-term expected real rates of return.

Weighted Average
Long-Term Expected

Target Real Rate of Return
Asset Class Allocation (Arithmetic)

Fixed Income 36.00% 1.53%
Domestic Equities 21.00% 5.75%
REITs 6.00% 5.69%
International Equities 23.00% 7.66%
Other Investments   14.00% 4.90%

Total 100.00% 4.55%

Discount Rate. A single discount rate of 3.16% was used to measure the OPEB liability on the 
measurement date of December 31, 2019. Projected benefit payments are required to be discounted to 
their actuarial present value using a single discount rate that reflects (1) a long-term expected rate of return 
on OPEB plan investments (to the extent that the health care fiduciary net position is projected to be 
sufficient to pay benefits), and (2) tax-exempt municipal bond rate based on an index of 20-year general 
obligation bonds with an average AA credit rating as of the measurement date (to the extent that the 
contributions for use with the long-term expected rate are not met). This single discount rate was based 
on an expected rate of return on the health care investment portfolio of 6.00% and a municipal bond rate 
of 2.75%. The projection of cash flows used to determine this single discount rate assumed that employer 
contributions will be made at rates equal to the actuarially determined contribution rate. Based on these 
assumptions, the health care fiduciary net position and future contributions were sufficient to finance health 
care costs through 2034. As a result, the long-term expected rate of return on health care investments 
was applied to projected costs through the year 2034, and the municipal bond rate was applied to all health 
care costs after that date.
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(11) Other Postemployment Benefit (OPEB) Plans (continued)

Sensitivity of the Authority’s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the 
Discount Rate. The following table presents the Authority’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability 
calculated using the single discount rate of 3.16%, as well as what the Authority’s proportionate share of 
the net OPEB liability if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1.0% point lower (2.16%) or 1.0% 
point higher (4.16%) than the current rate:

Current

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

(2.16%) (3.16%) (4.16%)

Authority's proportionate share 

  of the net OPEB liability 94,279,344$    72,044,732$    54,238,266$    

Sensitivity of the Authority’s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the 
Health Care Cost Trend Rate. Changes in the health care cost trend rate may also have a significant 
impact on the net OPEB liability. The following table presents the net OPEB liability calculated using the 
assumed trend rates, and the expected net OPEB liability if it were calculated using a health care cost 
trend rate that is 1.0% lower or 1.0% higher than the current rate.

Retiree health care valuations use a health care cost-trend assumption that changes over several years 
built into the assumption. The near-term rates reflect increases in the current cost of health care; the trend 
starting in 2020 is 10.50%. If this trend continues for future years, the projection indicates that years from 
now virtually all expenditures will be for health care. A more reasonable alternative is that in the not-too-
distant future, the health plan cost trend will decrease to a level at, or near, wage inflation. On this basis, 
the actuaries project premium rate increases will continue to exceed wage inflation for approximately the 
next decade, but by less each year, until leveling off at an ultimate rate, assumed to be 3.50% in the most 
recent valuation.

Current Health

Care Cost Trend

1% Decrease Rate Assumption 1% Increase

Authority's proportionate share 

  of the net OPEB liability 69,916,718$    72,044,732$    74,141,451$    

Changes Subsequent to the Measurement Date. On January 15, 2020, the Board approved several 
changes to the health care plan offered to Medicare and pre-Medicare retirees in efforts to decrease costs 
and increase the solvency of the health care plan. These changes are effective January 1, 2022 and 
include changes to base allowances and eligibility for Medicare retirees, as well as replacing OPERS-
sponsored medical plans for pre-Medicare retirees with monthly allowances, similar to the program for 
Medicare retirees. These changes are not reflected in the current measurement period, but are expected 
to decrease the associated OPEB liability.
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(12) Contingent Liabilities

Litigation
It is the Authority’s policy to act as self-insurer for certain insurable risks consisting primarily of public 
liability and property damage. At December 31, 2020, COTA has been named in various public liability 
and property damage claims and suits, some of which seek significant damages. The ultimate outcome of
the claims and suits cannot be determined; however, it is the opinion of management that any resulting 
liability to the Authority in excess of that provided for in the accompanying balance sheet will not have a 
material adverse effect on the Authority’s financial position.

Federal and State Grants
Under the terms of the Authority’s various grants, periodic audits are required where certain costs could 
be questioned as not being an eligible expenditure under the terms of the grants. At December 31, 2020, 
there were no material questioned costs that had not been resolved with appropriate federal and state 
agencies. Questioned costs could still be identified during audits to be conducted in the future. In the 
opinion of COTA’s management, no material grant expenditures will be disallowed. FTA grant stipulations 
also require the granter to retain assets acquired by FTA funds for the full estimated asset life (as 
determined by the FTA). If this provision is not met, the granter must refund FTA’s un-depreciated basis 
in assets disposed with a net book value greater than $5,000.

COVID-19 Pandemic
The United States and the State of Ohio declared a state of emergency in March 2020 due to the COVID-
19 pandemic. The financial impact of COVID-19 and the ensuing emergency measures impacted the 
second half of fiscal year 2020 and will impact subsequent periods of the Authority. The impact on the 
Authority’s future operating costs, revenues, and any recovery from emergency funding, either federal or 
state, cannot be estimated.

(13) Derivative Instruments

Objective and Terms of Hedging Derivative Instruments
Pursuant to Ohio Revised Code sections 9.835 (A), (B), and section (C) the Central Ohio Transit Authority 
has established an energy price risk management program to decrease the volatility of diesel fuel and 
natural gas cost, and increase the likelihood that actual net energy costs will remain below the budgeted 
cost, increase the certainty of future cost, attain a lower overall cost of fuel and natural gas in the long-
term, and manage year-over-year changes in energy costs. Within this program, COTA will acquire, hold, 
and dispose of positions in exchange-traded futures contracts and other financial instruments including 
but not limited to use of futures, options, options on future, or fixed price delivery contracts. In 2020 and 
2019, heating oil #2 futures contracts as well as natural gas contracts were utilized. The COTA Board 
approval limits contracts in-place to a maximum hedge ratio of up to 100% of forecast consumption, up to 
thirty-six (36) months into the future. The initial value of each contract is zero.

The price of diesel fuel purchased is the published Columbus, Ohio OPIS price for the week plus or minus 
a differential agreed to through a competitive bidding process. The differential to the published Columbus, 
Ohio OPIS price was $0.0251 and $0.0239 per gallon at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The 
price of natural gas purchased is the New York Mercantile Exchange monthly closing index plus or minus 
a margin agreed to through a competitive bidding process. For the years ending December 31, 2020 and 
2019, a loss of $545,009 and 169,634, respectively, was recognized as an increase in fuel expense. The 
amount realized will change based on market prices at the time all contract settlements are fixed. There 
is no debt associated with these contracts.
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(13) Derivative Instruments (continued)

Composition of Derivative Instruments
The fair value balances and notional amounts of derivative instruments outstanding as of December 31, 
2020 and 2019, classified by type, are as follows:

Notional Fair Counterparty

December 31, 2020 Amount Value Credit Rating

Positive Cash Flow Hedge:

Pay-variable, receive fixed commodity swap 230,000 mmbtu 53,522$          A2

Pay-variable, receive fixed commodity swap 1,512,000 gallons 1,255$            A2

December 31, 2019

Positive Cash Flow Hedge:

Pay-variable, receive fixed commodity swap 504,000 gallons 53,555$          A2

Negative Cash Flow Hedge:

Pay-variable, receive fixed commodity swap 240,000 mmbtu (100,285)$        A2

All fair values are classified as derivative instruments on the Statements of Net Position. The increase in 
fair values of these derivatives instruments was $101,507 for 2020. As these commodity swaps are 
considered hedging derivatives instruments, the change in fair value is reflected within deferred outflows 
and inflows on the Statements of Net Position. The fair values of the commodity swaps are based on 
forward prices from established indexes for the applicable region and discounted using established interest 
rate indexes. The fair value of the derivatives is calculated based on current market rates (Level 2 inputs).

Commodity Swap Risks
Termination Risk: The commodity swaps terminate in the event of a “termination event” as defined under 
the related Master Agreement, in the event of the Authority or counterparty nonperformance, and in 
connection with other specified events. If the commodity swaps are terminated as a result of the Authority’s 
default or as a result of the termination of the Master Agreement, including early termination, unpaid 
amounts, in the amount of the fair value or otherwise, are to be calculated to decide the settlement amount 
that the Authority or the swap counterparty, whichever party’s settlement amount is higher, would be 
obligated to pay.

Credit Risk: The commodity swaps are tied to related fuel and gas futures contracts and terminate in the 
event such transactions terminate. Therefore, the only credit risk associated with the commodity swaps is 
for margins lost on future commodity deliveries associated with a termination of the related fuel and gas 
futures contracts in the event of a counterparty’s inability to perform in accordance with the terms of the 
related commodity swaps. Generally, the only amounts due upon termination of the commodity swap 
would be previously accrued but unpaid amounts. If the swap counterparty is rated below "A3" by Moody’s 
Investors Service, Inc., the swap counterparty is permitted to post collateral or post an alternative security 
arrangement within thirty Local Business Days of such downgrade. The swap counterparty must provide 
the Authority adequate assurances of the swap counterparty’s ability to continue performing under all 
transactions, which adequate assurances must be satisfactory to the Authority.
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(14) Correction of Amount

During 2020, the Authority made the decision to present the financial information regarding its derivatives 
related to its fuel expense on the financial statements. The amounts associated with these hedging 
instruments has always, and continues to be, insignificant to the Authority’s financial statements. The 
requirements of reporting the instruments in accordance with GASB Statement No. 53 resulted in 
adjustments to the Statement of Net Position for all years presented but had no effect on the beginning 
net position of any period.

At December 31, 2019, the Authority had reported $15,978,630 of investments designated for self-
insurance. Upon further examination, the nature of these monies no longer met the definition of an 
investment and therefore, should have been reported within cash and cash equivalents. The 
corresponding amounts reported for 2019 have been corrected within the Statement of Net Position as 
well as the Statement of Cash Flows. This correction had no effect on the beginning net position of the 
Authority for the year ended December 31, 2020.

(15) Subsequent Event

In response to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, the Coronavirus Response and Relief Supplemental 
Appropriations Act (CRRSAA) was signed into law on December 27, 2020. Additionally, the American 
Rescue Plan Act of 2021 (ARPA) was signed into law on March 11, 2021. The Authority was allocated 
relief funding of $51,621,741 from CRRSAA and $93,279,602 from ARPA to assist with ongoing operations 
of the Authority.
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Authority's Authority's Authority's Proportionate Plan Fiduciary
Proportion Proportionate Share of the Net Net Position as a
of the Net Share of the Authority's Pension Liability as Percentage of the
Pension Net Pension Covered a Percentage of its Total Pension
Liability Liability Payroll Covered Payroll Liability

2014 0.363971% 42,862,731$ 38,340,346$ 111.80% 86.36%
2015 0.363971% 43,734,920   44,622,933   98.01% 86.45%
2016 0.390550% 67,648,215   48,887,633   138.37% 81.08%
2017 0.408070% 92,665,735   52,764,617   175.62% 77.25%
2018 0.454303% 71,271,333   59,997,877   118.79% 84.66%
2019 0.402919% 110,351,252 60,978,236   180.97% 74.70%
2020 0.517005% 102,189,495 66,169,814   154.44% 82.17%

(1) Information prior to 2014 is not available. The Authority will continue to presented for years
available until a full ten-year trend is compiled.

(2) Amounts presented for each year were determined as of the Authority's measurement
date, which is the prior year-end.

NOTES TO SCHEDULE:

Change in assumptions.  In 2017, changes in assumptions were made based upon an updated experience study that was
completed for the five-year period ended December 31, 2015. Significant changes included a reduction of the discount rate
from 8.0% to 7.5%, a reduction in the wage inflation rate from 3.75% to 3.25%, and transition from the RP-2000 mortality
tables to the RP-2014 mortality tables.

In 2019, a reduction of the discount rate was made from 7.5% to 7.2%.

LAST SEVEN YEARS (1) (2)

SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY
SCHEDULE OF THE AUTHORITY'S PROPORTIONATE

CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

OHIO PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM
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Contributions in
Relation to the Contributions

Contractually Contractually Contribution Authority's as a Percentage
Required Required Deficiency Covered of Covered

Contributions Contributions (Excess) Payroll Payroll

2013 4,984,245$       (4,984,245)$      -$ 38,340,346$     13.00%
2014 5,354,752         (5,354,752)        - 44,622,933 12.00%
2015 5,866,516         (5,866,516)        - 48,887,633 12.00%
2016 6,331,754         (6,331,754)        - 52,764,617 12.00%
2017 7,799,724         (7,799,724)        - 59,997,877 13.00%
2018 8,536,953         (8,536,953)        - 60,978,236 14.00%
2019 9,263,774         (9,263,774)        - 66,169,814 14.00%
2020 9,193,402         (9,193,402)        - 65,667,157 14.00%

(1) Information prior to 2013 is not available. The Authority will continue to presented for years
available until a full ten-year trend is compiled.

LAST EIGHT YEARS (1)

SCHEDULE OF THE AUTHORITY'S PENSION CONTRIBUTIONS

CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

OHIO PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM

51



Authority's Authority's Authority's Proportionate Plan Fiduciary
Proportion Proportionate Share of the Net Net Position as a
of the Net Share of the Authority's OPEB Liability as Percentage of the

OPEB Net OPEB Covered a Percentage of its Total OPEB
Liability Liability Payroll Covered Payroll Liability

2017 0.4080699% 41,216,446$ 52,764,617$ 78.11% 54.05%
2018 0.4613627% 50,100,594   59,997,877   83.50% 54.14%
2019 0.4096264% 53,405,611   60,978,236   87.58% 46.33%
2020 0.5215871% 72,044,732   66,169,814   108.88% 47.80%

(1)   Information prior to 2017 is not available. The Authority will continue to presented for years
  available until a full ten-year trend is compiled.

(2)   Amounts presented for each year were determined as of the Authority's measurement
  date, which is the prior year-end.

NOTES TO SCHEDULE:

Change in assumptions.  In 2018, the single discount rate changed from 4.23% to 3.85%.

In 2019, the single discount rate changed from 3.85% to 3.96%, the investment rate of return changed from 
6.50% to 6.00%, and the health care cost trend rate changed from 7.5% initial to 10.0% initial.

In 2020, the single discount rate changed from 3.96% to 3.16% and the health care cost trend rate changed 
from 10.0% initial, 3.25% ultimate in 2029 to 10.5% initial, 3.50% ultimate in 2030.

LAST FOUR YEARS (1) (2)

CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF THE AUTHORITY'S PROPORTIONATE

SHARE OF THE NET OPEB LIABILITY
OHIO PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM
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Contributions in
Relation to the Contributions

Contractually Contractually Contribution Authority's as a Percentage
Required Required Deficiency Covered of Covered

Contributions Contributions (Excess) Payroll Payroll

2015 977,753$          (977,753)$         -$ 48,887,633$     2.00%
2016 1,055,292         (1,055,292)        - 52,764,617 2.00%
2017 599,979            (599,979)           - 59,997,877 1.00%
2018 - - - 60,978,236       0.00%
2019 - - - 66,169,814       0.00%
2020 - - - 65,667,157       0.00%

(1) Information prior to 2015 is not available. The Authority will continue to presented for years
available until a full ten-year trend is compiled.

LAST SIX YEARS (1)

CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF THE AUTHORITY'S OPEB CONTRIBUTIONS

OHIO PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM
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BUDGET ACTUAL VARIANCE

OPERATING REVENUES......................................................................................... 19,296,566$     4,366,499$       (14,930,067)$    

OPERATING EXPENSES OTHER THAN DEPRECIATION:

Labor................................................................................................................ 78,076,191       63,664,363 14,411,828       

Fringe benefits............................................................................................................29,210,185       39,761,289 (10,551,104)      

Materials and supplies........................................................................................................................14,964,541       10,991,246 3,973,295         

Fuel……………….........................................................................................................................5,563,903         3,498,041 2,065,862         

Purchased transportation..........................................................................................................10,775,404       10,630,800 144,604            

Services...................................................................................................................24,091,001       18,811,102 5,279,899         

Utilities........................................................................................................................................................3,138,974         2,556,023 582,951            

Claims and insurance, net of settlements........................................................... 1,087,800         594,645 493,155            

Miscellaneous............................................................................................................................3,151,976         2,792,305 359,671            

Total.........................................................................................................................................170,059,975     153,299,814 16,760,161       

DEPRECIATION................................................................................................................................34,779,496 30,556,473 4,223,023         

Total operating expenses.............................................................................................................................204,839,471     183,856,287 20,983,184       

OPERATING LOSS………………………………………………………………………………….(185,542,905)    (179,489,788) 6,053,117         

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):

Sales tax revenues......................................................................................................................................135,478,503     133,699,649 (1,778,854)        

Federal operating grant.....................................................................................................................................1,574,404         50,601,514       49,027,110       

State operating grants, reimbursements and

special fare assistance...............................................................................................................................674,633            1,783,392 1,108,759         

Local operating grant.....................................................................................................................................-                   255,975 255,975            

Investment income....................................................................................................................................3,000,000         1,188,206 (1,811,794)        

Regional transit subsidy……………………………………………………………………………………………………………..(3,200,000)        (2,242,304) 957,696            

Non-operating project expense………………………………………………………………….(540,504)           (460,625) 79,879

Non-transportation and other revenues............................................................................................................3,130,868         1,792,205 (1,338,663)        

Loss on disposal of capital assets…………………………………………………………………..-                   (1,010,270)        (1,010,270)        

Total..........................................................................................................................140,117,904     185,607,742 45,489,838       

Change before capital grants……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..(45,425,001)      6,117,954 51,542,955       

CAPITAL GRANT REVENUE:

Federal, state, local....................................................................................................................................98,738,832       40,248,548       (58,490,284)      

Total ………………………………………………..…………………………………………………………………………………………………………….98,738,832       40,248,548 (58,490,284)

CHANGE IN NET POSITION …………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….53,313,831       46,366,502 (6,947,329)

NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………450,830,697     450,830,697 -                       

NET POSITION, END OF YEAR………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………504,144,528$   497,197,199$   (6,947,329)$      

Note to Supplemental Schedule:

COTA adopts its annual budget on a GAAP basis prior to the start of each year. However, pension expense reported by COTA on

the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Change in Net Position contains an allocation of COTA's proportionate share of the

State-wide pension system's pension/OPEB expense (with the exception of current year contributions) which is not anticipated in

the operating budget adopted or accounted for within the general ledger accounts throughout the year, and therefore the 

NPL/OPEB related items are not included within the budgetary net position amounts. 

The table that follows demonstrates the difference between the Budgeted Revenues, Expenses and Change in Net Position:

Change in Net Position, GAAP Basis 16,983,248$     

   Budgeting Difference: 

       Recognition of proportionate share of state-wide pension system's

       pension/OPEB expense for current year. 29,383,254

Change in Net Position, Budgeted Accrual Basis 46,366,502$     

CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Supplemental Schedule of Revenues, Expenses and

Changes in Net Position - Budget vs. Actual (Accrual Basis)
Year ended December 31, 2020
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This part of COTA’s comprehensive annual financial report contains detailed information
presented in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement
No. 44, Economic Condition Reporting: The Statistical Section. These schedules provide
additional details to better understand the financial statements, notes and required
supplemental information.

Financial Trends  and Revenue Capacity P56-64

These schedules indicate how the Authority’s performance and conditions have changed over a
ten year time frame. Also contained in these schedules in information to help the reader
understand the Authority’s most significant revenue sources.

Debt Capacity P65-67

These schedules indicate COTA specific debt service information as well as direct and
overlapping debt computations from Franklin County.

Economic and Demographic Information P68-70

These schedules contain economic and demographic indicators to help the reader
understand the environment within which the Authority’s financial activities take place.

Operating Information P71-75

These schedules contain data to help the reader understand how to the information in
the Authority’s financial report relates to the services the Authority provides and the
activities it performs.

STATISTICAL
SECTION
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TRANSPORTATION INDUSTRY (1)

YEAR TOTAL

2011 32.8% 11.1% 43.9% 46.3% 9.8% 56.1% 100.0%
2012 32.5% 11.1% 43.6% 47.5% 8.9% 56.4% 100.0%
2013 32.5% 10.3% 42.8% 48.3% 8.9% 57.2% 100.0%
2014 32.0% 10.8% 42.8% 48.6% 8.6% 57.2% 100.0%
2015 32.5% 11.6% 44.1% 47.6% 8.3% 55.9% 100.0%
2016 31.3% 11.8% 43.1% 48.9% 8.0% 56.9% 100.0%
2017 31.4% 11.8% 43.2% 48.3% 8.5% 56.8% 100.0%
2018 30.7% 11.5% 42.2% 49.2% 8.6% 57.8% 100.0%
2019     *     *      *        *        *        *       *  
2020     *     *      *        *        *        *       *  

CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY (2)

YEAR TOTAL
(3)   (4)    

2011 12.0% 16.1% 28.1% 69.8% 2.1% 71.9% 100.0%
2012 12.8% 15.4% 28.2% 71.5% 0.3% 71.8% 100.0%
2013 12.1% 17.1% 29.2% 70.0% 0.8% 70.8% 100.0%
2014 12.2% 14.7% 26.9% 73.1% 0.0% 73.1% 100.0%
2015 11.0% 15.9% 26.9% 72.9% 0.2% 73.1% 100.0%
2016 11.1% 9.3% 20.4% 79.3% 0.3% 79.6% 100.0%
2017 9.4% 21.3% 30.7% 69.2% 0.1% 69.3% 100.0%
2018 11.5% 5.0% 16.5% 83.3% 0.2% 83.5% 100.0%
2019 9.8% 16.5% 26.3% 73.5% 0.2% 73.7% 100.0%
2020 1.8% 18.5% 20.3% 58.1% 21.6% 79.7% 100.0%

 *   Information not available

(1) Source: The American Public Transit Association, APTA Transit Fact Book

(2) Percentages are derived from the Authority's independently audited annual financial statements.

(3) Includes auxiliary transportation revenues, interest income,  nontransportation, other revenues and capital grants

(4) Includes local sales tax revenues, and state operating grants, reimbursements, and special fare assistance

OPERATING AND OTHER REVENUE OPERATING ASSISTANCE

PASSENGER OTHER
TOTAL ALL 
REVENUES

STATE & 
LOCAL FEDERAL TOTAL

STATE & 
LOCAL FEDERAL TOTALPASSENGER

TOTAL ALL 
REVENUESOTHER

CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

OPERATING ASSISTANCE

Revenues and Operating Assistance -
Comparison to Industry Trend Data

Last Ten Fiscal Years

OPERATING AND OTHER REVENUE
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  (1)  During 2020, the Authority did not collect fares during a significant portion of the year in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.
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Farebox revenues include passenger, special transit, and charter revenues; 
operating expenses exclude depreciation

CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

Farebox Revenues vs. Operating Expenses 

Last Ten Fiscal Years

 Farebox Revenues Operating Expenses
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TRANSPORTATION INDUSTRY (1)

MATERIALS    CLAIMS PURCHASED
AND       AND TRANS-

YEAR SERVICES SUPPLIES UTILITIES INSURANCE PORTATION OTHER

2011 65.0% 6.6% 11.4% 3.3% 2.6% 13.3% (2.2%) 100.0%
2012 64.0% 6.9% 11.7% 3.2% 2.2% 13.8% (1.8%) 100.0%
2013 60.7% 7.1% 11.2% 3.1% 2.4% 13.7% 1.8% 100.0%
2014 61.1% 6.9% 11.0% 3.2% 2.5% 13.6% 1.7% 100.0%
2015 61.5% 7.3% 9.8% 3.0% 2.4% 14.2% 1.8% 100.0%
2016 62.6% 7.6% 8.9% 2.7% 2.7% 13.7% 1.6% 100.0%
2017 61.9% 8.1% 8.7% 2.8% 2.8% 14.2% 1.6% 100.0%
2018 61.5% 8.3% 8.7% 2.9% 2.6% 14.5% 1.5% 100.0%
2019 *   *   *       *     *       *   *   * 
2020 *   *   *       *     *       *   *   * 

CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY (2)

MATERIALS    CLAIMS PURCHASED
AND       AND TRANS-

YEAR SERVICES SUPPLIES UTILITIES INSURANCE PORTATION OTHER

2011 66.5% 7.0% 14.9% 2.1% 0.4% 7.0% 2.1% 100.0%
2012 66.9% 6.4% 15.7% 1.7% 0.1% 7.2% 2.0% 100.0%
2013 65.7% 7.7% 15.9% 1.8% -0.5% 7.1% 2.3% 100.0%
2014 66.8% 6.8% 14.8% 2.0% 0.2% 7.1% 2.3% 100.0%
2015 67.9% 7.3% 13.5% 1.9% 0.1% 6.9% 2.4% 100.0%
2016 70.3% 8.2% 11.2% 1.6% 0.0% 6.3% 2.4% 100.0%
2017 73.1% 7.8% 9.8% 1.6% 0.1% 5.3% 2.3% 100.0%
2018 72.8% 7.0% 10.9% 1.9% 0.2% 5.1% 2.1% 100.0%
2019 71.4% 8.5% 10.9% 1.6% 0.3% 5.2% 2.1% 100.0%
2020 72.7% 10.3% 7.9% 1.4% 0.3% 5.8% 1.6% 100.0%

 *   Information not available

(1) Source: The American Public Transit Association, APTA Transit Fact Book

(2) Percentages are derived from the Authority's independently audited annual financial statements.

(3) Total operating expenses exclude depreciation

FRINGES
OPERATING

EXPENSES (3) 

CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Operating Expenses - Comparison to Industry Trend Data

Last Ten Fiscal Years

AND
  LABOR TOTAL

OPERATING
FRINGES

  LABOR
AND

EXPENSES

TOTAL
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CALCULATION OF LEGAL OVERALL DEBT MARGIN:

Total assessed property valuation of Authority

(2020 tax year valuation) (1) .........................................................................................................…………………………………………………………………………………….   37,704,961,770$   

Multiplied by:  Legal overall debt limitation (%) ..................................................................................……………………………………………………………………………   5.00%

Equals:  Total legal voted and unvoted debt limitation ............................................................................………………………………………………………………….   1,885,248,089$     

Less:  Nonexempt general obligation debt (voted and unvoted) (2) ........................................................……………………………………………………………   -$                       

Equals:  Legal overall debt margin (maximum amount permitted for new

voted and unvoted nonexempt general obligation debt issuances) .......................................……………………………………………………………………………   1,885,248,089$     

CALCULATION OF LEGAL UNVOTED DEBT MARGIN:

Total assessed property valuation of Authority

(2020 tax year valuation) (1) .........................................................................................................…………………………………………………………………………………   37,704,961,770$   

Multiplied by:  Legal unvoted debt limitation (%) ....................................................................................................................................................................   0.10%

Equals:  Legal unvoted debt limitation .........................................................................................................................................................................................   37,704,962$          

Less:  Maximum aggregate amounts of principal and interest

payable in any one calendar year (2) ...................................................................................................................................................................................   -$                       

Equals:  Legal unvoted debt margin (maximum annual debt service charges

permitted for new unvoted nonexempt general obligation debt issuances)………………………………………………………………………………………………..   37,704,962$          

(1) Source: Franklin County Auditor's Office

CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

Legal Debt Margin

December 31, 2020
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RATIO OF

ASSESSED  GENERAL BONDED DEBT TO   BONDED DEBT

YEAR VALUE BONDED DEBT ASSESSED VALUE PER CAPITA
(1) (2) (3)

2011 1,173,158 27,147,358,600$       -$                        0.00% $0.00

2012 1,168,018     26,973,196,500$       -$                        0.00% $0.00

2013 1,195,537     27,018,525,940$       -$                        0.00% $0.00

2014 1,231,393 27,221,010,540$       -$                        0.00% $0.00

2015 1,251,722 27,907,630,030$       -$                        0.00% $0.00

2016 1,264,518 27,990,535,515$       -$                        0.00% $0.00

2017 1,269,998 31,177,066,170$       -$                        0.00% $0.00

2018 1,291,981 31,535,400,220$       -$                        0.00% $0.00

2019 1,316,756 31,952,055,140$       -$                        0.00% $0.00

2020 1,316,756 37,704,961,770$       -$                        0.00% $0.00

*  Information not available

(1)  U. S. Census Bureau - Latest Available is July 1, 2019

(2)  Source:  Franklin County Auditor's Office      
(3)  The Authority's independently audited annual financial statements

CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Ratio of General Bonded Debt to Assessed Value and

Net Bonded Debt per Capita
Last Ten Fiscal Years

POPULATION
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Franklin County Total Value $36,494,330,110
Licking County (City of Reynoldsburg) $252,620,010
Delaware County (Westerville & Columbus) $763,358,410
Fairfield County (Columbus and Reynoldsburg) $194,653,240

*Assessed Value for COTA = $ $37,704,961,770
*The above amounts are all less Tangible Personal

Political Subdivision General Obligation Debt

Percentage 
Applicable to 

COTA
Amount Applicable 

to COTA
COTA -                               100.0% -                        

Counties With Overlapping:
Delaware 40,682,200 10.94% 4,450,633
Fairfield 11,043,579 5.04% 556,596
Franklin 178,725,000 99.99% 178,707,128
Licking 27,450,788 4.52% 1,240,776

Cities wholly within COTA 1,827,108,000 100.0% 1,827,089,999
Cities with Overlapping:
    City of Dublin 50,817,000 92.45% 46,980,317
    Canal Winchester City 4,915,000 95.59% 4,698,249

Villages wholly within COTA 7,720,000 100.0% 7,720,000
Villages with Overlapping:

Townships wholly within COTA 20,840,500 100.0% 20,840,500
Townships with Overlapping:
    Etna Township 2,000,000 39.73% 794,600
    Genoa Township 5,510,000 0.06% 3,306
    Madison Township 1,600,000 99.61% 1,593,760
    Violet Township 9,130,000 4.36% 398,068

School Districts wholly within COTA 666,981,993 100.0% 731,185,667
School Districts with Overlapping:
    Canal Winchester Local S.D. 39,069,983 75.52% 29,505,651
    Dublin City S.D. 183,431,640 80.82% 148,249,451
    Hilliard City S.D. 119,114,912 99.99% 119,103,001
    Jonathan Alder Local S.D. 12,830,000 1.68% 215,544
    Licking Heights Local S.D.
    Olentangy Local S.D.
    Pickerington Local S.D.
    New Albany-Plain Local S.D. 74,849,001 99.98% 74,834,031
    Reynoldsburg City S.D. 70,764,987 98.80% 69,915,807
    South-Western City S.D. 223,034,962 99.82% 222,633,499
    Southwest Licking Locasl S.D.
    Teays Valley Local S.D.
    Westerville City S.D. 132,200,000 75.52% 99,877,100
    Eastland Joint Vocational S.D.
    Licking County Joint Vocational S.D. 85,945,000 51.12% 43,935,084
    Tolles Joint Vocational S.D.

Special District with Overlapping:
    New Albany/Plain Jnt Park District
    Solid Waste Authority of Central Ohio
    West Licking Fire District

Total 3,634,528,768

Source:  Ohio Municipal Advisory Council database 

Notes:     1. Percentage applicable to COTA equals the Franklin County value of the political 
                    subdivision divided by the total valuation.  TY2019/CY2020 values are used. 
                2. General Obligation debt includes Limited and Unlimited issues except for City of Columubs (Limited only)

CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

December 31, 2020
Computation of Direct and Overlapping General Obligation Debt
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PER CAPITA MEDIAN   K - 12 SCHOOL UNEMPLOYMENT

YEAR POPULATION INCOME AGE   ENROLLMENT RATE 

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5)

2011 1,173,158 $39,646 34.9 197,082 8.1%

2012 1,168,018 $42,624 33.6 192,902 6.7%

2013 1,195,537 $43,506 33.6 196,580 7.2%

2014 1,231,393 $45,158 33.8 218,349 4.8%

2015 1,251,722 $46,949 34.0 220,090 4.1%

2016 1,264,518 $48,150 34.0 233,148 4.0%

2017 1,269,998 $48,199 33.9 226,996 3.6%

2018 1,291,981 $49,448 33.4 172,106 3.8%

2019 1,316,756 $51,644 34.1 182,800 3.5%

2020 1,316,756 * 34.1 188,938 7.4%

Note:  All information presented is for Franklin County

*  Information not available

Sources:

  (1)  U. S. Census Bureau - Latest Available is July 1, 2019

  (2)  U. S. Department of Commerce - Bureau of Economic Analysis

  (3)  Data USA

  (4)  Ohio Department of Education - Division of Information Management Services

  (5)  Ohio Department of Job and Family Services, Ohio Labor Market Information

CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

Demographic Statistics

Last Ten Fiscal Years
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CASH OR TICKET FARES:

   Express ......................................................................................................................................................................................................…$ 2.75

   Local and Crosstown ..................................................................................................................................................................2.00
   Project Mainstream ADA Trip(1) ...........................................................................................................................................................3.50

   Mainstream On Demand ...........................................................................................................................................................$1.00 per mile with a $5.00 minimum

   Transfer ......................................................................................................................................................................................…Free

DAY PASSES (2):

   Adult (3) .....................................................................................................................................................................................…$ 4.50
   Human Service Agency (4) .....................................................................................................................................................4.00
   Children over 48" and under 12 years old, Senior Discount Card (5),

       or Key Card (6)…………………………………………………………………………………………………….2.25

   Seven-Day Pass .............................................................................................................................................25.00

MONTHLY PASSES:

   Express ......................................................................................................................................................................................…$ 85.00

   Local .................................................................................................................................................................................................62.00
   Project Mainstream (1) .............................................................................................................................................105.00
   Senior Discount Card (5), or Key Card (6) ……………………………………………………………….31.00

SPECIAL FARES:
   Children over 48" and under 12 years old, Senior Discount Card (5),

      or Key Card (6) .............................................................................................................................$ 1.00

   Children under 48" tall ................................................................................................................................................Free
   All ADA Card (7) recipients on fixed-route bus service only ................................................................................................................................................Free

   CBUS.....................................................................................................… Free
   Summer Youth Pass June 1 - August 31 (8)............................................... 62.00

(1) Door-to-door service on demand, in wheelchair lift-equipped paratransit mini-buses, for eligible
disabled riders holding an "ADA" card.  ADA Trips are defined as trips originating 3/4 of a mile
or less from an existing fixed-route bus line that is in operation within the time of day and day
of the week.  All other trips are considered a Non-ADA Trip.

(2) Good for unlimited travel on all local/crosstown routes from time of validation until midnight

(3) Additional $0.75 required for express service

(4) Distributed by approved nonprofit service agencies for use by their clientele

(5) Photo identification card, for riders aged 65 and over

(6) Photo identification card, for eligible disabled riders

(7) Photo identification card, for physically or mentally disabled riders for Project Mainstream service

(8) Age 17 or younger, additional $0.75 required for express service

CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Fare Rate Structure
December 31, 2020
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Date of creation of Authority by local county
     and municipal governments .......................................................................................  February 17, 1971

Date of acquisition of assets of Columbus
     Transit Company (C.T.C.) .........................................................................................  June 29, 1973

Date of commencement of Authority operations .......................................................................................January 1, 1974

Form of government ...........................................................................................Board of Trustees, with
fulltime President/CEO

Number of Trustees ................................................................................................12 (one vacancy)

County in which Authority operates .................................................................Franklin County and small portions
of adjacent Delaware, Fairfield,
Union, and Licking Counties, Ohio

Type of tax support ...............................................................................................Service Area Sales Tax - 
1/4 % permanent
1/4 % temporary

Size of Authority ......................................................................................................562 square miles

Miles of route .............................................................................................................957.7

Number of routes1 ...................................................................................................23

Number of bus stop locations ...............................................................................3,041

Number of bus stop passenger shelters ..........................................................436

Number of Park-and-Ride facilities ......................................................................23

Parking capacity, all Park-and-Ride facilities ..................................................2,266

Number of active fleet buses ......................................................................................322

Average bus vehicle age ........................................................................................6.9

Average fixed-route system speed ................................................................................14.66

Average fixed-route system fuel economy ....................................................................4.36

Number of customer information calls received ......................................  433,626

1. 23 active routes, 19 routes suspended due to pandemic

Source:   The Authority's annual National Transit Database Report , filed with the Federal Transit Administration
Source:   The Authority's non-financial operational statistics.

CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

Miscellaneous Statistics

For the Year ended December 31, 2020
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2020
FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020

PREPARED BY:
FINANCE DIVISION

Angel L. Mumma

Kenyatta Chandler

Joseph Homan

Kelli Cannon

Jennifer Seppeler

Kathy Ackerman

Celso Baquedano

Mark Hauk

Murray Holmes

Jahn Jones

Ashanti Powell

Amy Seitz

Ellen Thompson

Sam Thomsen

Lynette Vargas

Chief Financial Officer

Director, Finance

Chief Accountant

Manager, Accounting & Reporting

Payroll Manager

Accounting Clerk

Payroll Administrator

Staff Accountant

Staff Accountant

Senior Administrative Assistant

Payroll Administrator

Finance/Purchasing Coordinator

Revenue & Ridership Analyst

Fare System Administrator

Grant Accountant
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